CENTRAL AND PERIPHERAL CHEMOREFLEX FUNCTION IN THE SUPINE AND UPRIGHT POSTURES IN WOMEN THROUGHOUT THE MENSTRUAL CYCLE WITH A COMPARISON TO MEN

CHRISTOPHER HAZLETT

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN KINESIOLOGY AND HEALTH SCIENCE YORK UNIVERSITY TORONTO, ONTARIO

JULY 2017

© CHRISTOPHER HAZLETT, JULY 2017

ABSTRACT

The primary purpose of the study was to examine sex differences and menstrual cycle time-points on chemoreflex function during supine and 70° upright (HUT) positions during: 1) normoxia, 2) hypercapnia (5% CO₂), or 3) hyperoxia (100% O₂). Women were tested during the early-follicular phase (EF; days 2-5) and the mid-luteal phase (ML; days 18-24). Compared to baseline, men and women had lower cardiac output index (Q_i), mean arterial pressure (MAP), cerebrovascular resistance index, and respiratory rate during HUT. In response to hypercapnia during HUT (compared to supine), men had an augmented increase in MAP, while all groups had an augmented increase in ventilation suggesting sexually dimorphic interactions between the baroreflex and central chemoreflex. In response to hyperoxia during HUT, men and women displayed an attenuated increase of total peripheral resistance index and an attenuated decrease of Q_i suggesting upright posture activated peripheral chemoreceptors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude and thanks to my supervisor, Dr. Heather Edgell, for her mentorship, guidance and patience throughout the course of my thesis project. Your devotion to research in the field of women's cardiovascular health should serve as encouragement to those seeking answers to questions that many are afraid to ask.

Secondly, I would like to recognize my family for their continued motivation and belief that I could not only gaze upon the stars but reach out and grasp them. My ambition and drive to succeed have been cultivated by you all. Mom, Dad, and Cheryl, thank you for your unconditional love and support.

Lastly, to the woman who has stood by my side through the best and worst of times and who has encouraged me to push forward and never give up in the face of adversity. I am forever grateful for the endless love and support you have shown me. From the bottom of my heart, I thank you and I love you Lindsay.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	vii
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	3
Oxygen	3
Carbon Dioxide	6
Orthostatic Stress	9
Sex Differences	12
Menstrual Cycle	15
METHODS	16
PARTICIPANT DESCRIPTION	16
MEASUREMENT OF VARIABLES	18
Cerebral Hemodynamics	18
Cardiovascular Hemodynamics	18
Respiratory Variables	19
PROTOCOL	20
	22
Heart Rate Variability (HRV)	22
Cardiovagal Baroreceptor Sensitivity (cBRS)	22
Pulse-Wave Velocity (PWV)	22
STATISTICS	23
RESULTS	24
Supine Normoxia	24
Normoxic Tilt	25
Hypercapnia	36
Hyperoxia	41
Pulse-Wave Velocity	52
	52
Summary	52
Head-up Tilt In Normoxia	54
Head-up Tilt in Hypercaphia	5/
Head-up Thit in Hyperoxia	61
	04
LIWITATIONS AND FUTUKE STUDIES	CØ
KEFEKENGED	ŏ0
Appendix A: Summary of results	04

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Participant Anthropometrics 17
Table 2: Hemodynamic, cerebrovascular and respiratory responses to normoxia in the
supine position
Table 3: Heart-rate variability and cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity during normoxia
in the supine and HUT positions
Table 4: Pulse-wave velocity during hypercapnia, hyperoxia and normoxia in the supine
position51

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Flow diagram of central and peripheral chemoreflex function	9
Figure 2: The time-line of the supine and tilted trial	20
Figure 3: The respiratory apparatus	21
Figure 4: Hemodynamic responses to normoxia in the tilted position	27
Figure 5: Cerebral hemodynamic responses to normoxia in the tilted position	30
Figure 6: Respiratory responses to normoxia in the tilted position	32
Figure 7: Hemodynamic responses to hypercapnia in the tilted position	37
Figure 8: Cerebral hemodynamic responses to hypercapnia in the tilted position	39
Figure 9: Respiratory responses to hypercapnia in the tilted position	42
Figure 10: Hemodynamic responses to hyperoxia in the tilted position	44
Figure 11: Cerebral hemodynamic responses to hyperoxia in the tilted position	47
Figure 12: Respiratory responses to hyperoxia in the tilted position	49

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- BMI \rightarrow Body mass index
- BSA → Body surface area
- cBRS → Cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity
- CPP → Cerebral perfusion pressure
- $CVR/CVR_i \rightarrow$ Cerebrovascular resistance/cerebrovascular resistance index
- ECG → Electrocardiogram
- EF \rightarrow Early-follicular
- ET-CO₂ \rightarrow End-tidal carbon dioxide
- ET-O₂ \rightarrow End-tidal oxygen
- FEV₁ \rightarrow Forced expiratory volume in one second test
- FRC \rightarrow Functional residual capacity
- FVC → Forced vital capacity
- HCO₃ \rightarrow Bicarbonate
- HF \rightarrow High-frequency
- HR → Heart rate
- HRV \rightarrow Heart rate variability
- HUT → Head-up tilt
- LBNP → Lower body negative pressure
- LF \rightarrow Low-frequency
- MAP \rightarrow Mean arterial pressure
- MCA → Middle cerebral artery
- ML \rightarrow Mid-luteal
- MSNA \rightarrow Muscle sympathetic nerve activity
- NO → Nitric oxide
- OI \rightarrow Orthostatic intolerance
- PaCO2 \rightarrow Arterial partial pressures of carbon dioxide
- PaO2 → Arterial partial pressures of oxygen
- $PI \rightarrow Pulsatility index$
- POTS → Postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome
- $PWV \rightarrow Pulse-wave velocity$
- $Q/Q_i \rightarrow$ Cardiac output/cardiac output index
- RI → Resistance index
- SBP \rightarrow Systolic blood pressure
- SDRR \rightarrow Standard deviation of the R-R interval
- $SV/SV_i \rightarrow$ Stroke volume/stroke volume index
- TCD \rightarrow Transcranial Doppler
- TPR/TPR_i \rightarrow Total peripheral resistance/total peripheral resistance index
- $V \rightarrow$ Velocity
- $V_e \rightarrow Ventilation$
- Vt → Tidal volume

INTRODUCTION

Orthostatic intolerance (OI) is characterized by feelings of nausea, lightheadedness, syncope and fatigue upon standing or orthostatic stress (128). It has been well established that the prevalence of OI is much higher in young women compared to men (23, 45, 51, 67, 158) possibly due to attenuated hemodynamic responses to orthostatic stress (23, 70, 146). Convertino (1998) showed that women had significantly greater reductions in stroke volume, cardiac output and mean arterial pressure upon orthostatic stress compared to men (23). Similarly, Jarvis et al. (2010) investigated the effects of 70° head-up tilt (HUT) on vasoconstrictor reserve in men and women and ultimately concluded that women have impaired splanchnic vasoconstriction upon assumption of HUT implying reduced venous return (70).

Further, women experience greater light-headedness during the EF phase (low estrogen and low progesterone) of their menstrual cycle compared to the ML phase (high estrogen and high progesterone) (114). Interestingly, Fu et al. (2009) investigated total MSNA during graded orthostatic stress and found that women in the EF phase had an attenuated total MSNA response compared to women in the ML phase (47). Sympathetic output during orthostatic stress can be influenced by many autonomic reflexes such as baroreceptors (65, 149), mechanoreceptors (43), metaboreceptors (96, 154), and chemoreceptors (74, 107, 110, 142, 143, 151), and these reflexes can in turn be influenced by the menstrual cycle. For example, during supine rest, ventilation is higher in the ML phase despite lower PaCO₂ compared to women the EF phase suggesting greater central chemoreceptor activity during the ML phase (138). However, there have been no investigations of chemoreflex function through the menstrual cycle in upright posture. Should women in the EF phase retain lower central chemoreceptor reactivity compared the ML phase in the upright posture, this could help explain lower sympathetic activity in the EF phase during tilt due to hypocapnia.

Interactions between autonomic reflexes have previously been studied. For example, the effects of hypoxia and hypercapnia in conjunction with postural changes (i.e. interactions between the chemoreflexes and the baroreflex) have been investigated (41, 46, 137, 147). Somers, Mark, & Abboud (1991) investigated the interaction between baroreflex and chemoreflex control of sympathetic nerve activity in healthy

men and women in a combined group (142). They found that sympathetic nerve activity was attenuated upon stimulation of both the peripheral chemoreceptors (via hypoxia) and baroreflexes (via phenylephrine) compared to hypoxia alone (142). They concluded that activation of baroreceptors by increases of arterial pressure markedly inhibited the sympatho-excitatory response to stimulation of the peripheral chemoreceptors by hypoxia (142). This inhibition of sympathetic activity as a result of baroreflex interaction with the peripheral chemoreceptors was not evident when investigating baroreflex and central chemoreceptor interaction as sympathetic activation was significantly higher after phenylephrine infusion in the presence of hypercapnia (142). This suggests that baroreflex inhibition in the tilted position could influence chemoreflex stimulation. Further, during post-exercise circulatory occlusion to activate the metaboreflex, it was discovered that the activated metaboreflex can stimulate the peripheral chemoreflex in healthy men in the absence of hypoxia (39).

Not only is ventilation and sympathetic activity influenced by CO₂ and O₂, but cerebral vessels maintain brain blood flow in response to changing levels of CO₂ through either vasodilation or vasoconstriction (69). In response to hypercapnia, brain blood flow increases via vasodilation to reduce cerebrovascular resistance (69) and women have also been shown to have increased cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity to hypercapnia compared to men (75). Previous studies investigating cerebrovascular responses to oxygen have found that hyperoxia reduces brain blood flow (78, 106, 111, 159) likely due to increased cerebrovascular resistance (78, 159) as a result of cerebral vasoconstriction (78, 106, 159).

The purpose of this research was to investigate central chemoreflex activation and peripheral chemoreflex suppression with hypercapnia and hyperoxia, respectively, in the supine or upright postures while investigating the influence of sex and/or menstrual cycle. We hypothesized that in normoxic conditions: 1) During upright tilt, women would have a greater reduction in brain blood velocity compared to men, and 2) Men would have higher ventilation compared to women (in both supine and upright positions) and women during the mid-luteal phase would have higher ventilation compared to the early follicular phase (in both supine and upright positions).

Secondly, we hypothesized that: 1) Central chemoreflex function would be enhanced in the upright posture compared to supine, 2) In both the supine and upright postures, women in ML will have increased cerebrovascular reactivity to hypercapnia compared to men and women in the EF phase; however, women in the EF phase will have greater cerebrovascular reactivity than men, and 3) In both the supine and upright postures, women during the EF phase will have enhanced central chemoreflex activity in response to hypercapnia compared to the ML phase and men.

Lastly, we hypothesized that: 1) In the supine posture, hyperoxia would decrease heart rate and cardiac output index while increasing stroke volume index in all groups (as observed previously), and 2) The peripheral chemoreflex would be activated in the upright posture (i.e. ventilation will decrease during hyperoxia) and this activation would be greatest in the EF phase.

LITERATURE REVIEW

<u>Oxygen</u>

Overwhelming evidence has shown that stimulation of the peripheral chemoreceptors as a result of hypoxia results in increased ventilation and arterial pressure (21, 22, 110, 143). These chemoreceptors are specialized nerve endings located in the carotid and aortic bodies that initiate reflexes in response to fluctuations in the chemical composition of arterial blood to elicit effects upon ventilation and circulation (21, 22). Specifically, they will detect the decreasing arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂; i.e. hypoxia) and will then communicate with respiratory centres in the brainstem to increase sympathetic activity and ventilation to raise arterial oxygen content. Steinback & Poulin (2008) investigated cardiovascular and cerebrovascular responses to isocapnic (end-tidal CO₂ (ET-CO₂) held constant) and poikilocapnic (ET-CO₂ allowed to vary naturally) hypoxia in humans (144). From baseline measurements to just after the onset of hypoxia, both poikilocapnic and isocapnic conditions saw significant increases in heart rate and ventilation, however, only poikilocapnic hypoxia saw an additional increases in mean arterial pressure and middle cerebral artery

velocity (144). This coincides with the significant decrease of ET-CO₂ under poikilocapnic conditions since low CO₂ is known to cause cerebral vasoconstriction.

The effects of hyperoxia on cardiovascular, respiratory and cerebral responses have also been investigated; however, the duration of exposure in the literature varies considerably which can change the cardiorespiratory responses. Daly & Bondurant (1962) found that upon exposure to $100\% O_2$ (unknown duration), healthy men had an increase in mean arterial pressure as well as systemic vascular resistance (31). This was concurrent with a decreased cardiac output and heart rate that was observed with no change seen in stroke volume (SV)(31). In response to 5-30 minutes of hyperoxia, heart rate, cardiac output and stroke volume decrease while mean arterial pressure and systemic vascular resistance increase (29, 36, 78, 148, 157). Indeed, Crawford et al. (1997) investigated forearm vasculature responses to 15 minutes of 100% O2 and concluded that exposure to hyperoxia increased forearm vascular resistance and mean arterial blood pressure (29). These findings suggest that oxygen can evoke a peripheral vasoconstrictor effect. Potential mechanisms influencing vasoconstriction as a result of hyperoxia include 1) directly affecting vascular smooth muscle cells to depolarize, leading to activation of L-type Ca²⁺ channels resulting in vasoconstriction (160), or 2) reducing the basal release of nitric oxide (NO; vasodilator) leading to a reduction of endothelium-dependent vasodilation as seen in porcine coronary arteries (112). These latter effects are likely elicited through superoxide anion, O₂, which is known to inhibit NO, thus, inhibiting vasodilation (55, 166).

Purves (1966) investigated the effects of 100% O₂ on respiratory and circulatory responses in 35 unanaesthetized, new-born lambs (117). Purves (1966) found that within the first minute of hyperoxic stimulus, minute ventilation decreased by an average of 22% and remained 19% lower after 7 minutes (117). Ventilatory responses to hyperoxia have also been widely investigated in healthy humans yet show no changes in ventilation (33, 34, 136). However, only if the peripheral chemoreceptors are activated, can they be suppressed or silenced in response to short periods (e.g. \leq 2 minutes) of hyperoxia (33, 136). Indeed, Dejours et al. (1958) showed that after a healthy individual was made hyperoxic by continuously breathing 33% O₂, a further exposure to 100% oxygen does not change ventilation further (34). Evidence has shown

that ventilation remains unchanged after exposure to 6 minutes of 100% hyperoxia in healthy men (64, 90), and Hermand et al. (2015) suggested that hyperoxic-inhibition of the peripheral chemoreflex was not sufficient to modulate ventilation in health since the peripheral chemoreceptors were not activated at rest (64). Conversely, one study showed that ventilation increased in response to 30 minutes of 100% hyperoxia in healthy men indicating a time-dependent component to the physiological responses to hyperoxia (8). Becker et al. (1996) discovered that 30 minutes of isocapnic hyperoxia increased ventilation by 10% even if ET-CO₂ is allowed to fall (8). The authors suggest that this increase in ventilation could be as a result of the "Haldane effect" whereby the binding capability for CO₂ is reduced during hyperoxia (44). During hyperoxic administration, carbon dioxide is displaced from hemoglobin by oxygen. This in turn increases the arterial partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) resulting in hyperpnea from central chemoreflex activation to subsequently lower arterial carbon dioxide (44).

Johnston et al. (2003) compiled a comprehensive review that looked at the effects of hyperoxia on cerebrovasculature (71). Many studies suggest that hyperoxia exposure attenuates cerebral blood flow in healthy individuals (78, 106, 111, 159). In particular, Kety & Schmidt (1948) investigated hyperoxic effects on calculated cerebral blood flow in young healthy men and found that 100% O₂ reduced cerebral blood flow by 13% (78). An increase in cerebrovascular resistance in response to 100% O₂ was observed indicating vasoconstriction of arteries within the brain reducing brain blood flow (78). Similarly, both Nakajima et al. (1983) and Watson et al. (2000) found a decrease in cerebral blood flow in response to 100% O₂ administration by 16.2% (106) and over 20% at rest (159), respectively. In contrast, Xu et al. (2012) found that hyperoxia exposure left cerebral blood flow unchanged in healthy participants (162). This could be due to the length of exposure to hyperoxia or to a preceding period of hypoxia; their participants first breathed room air (21% O₂) for 8 minutes, followed by hypoxia (14% O₂) for 18 minutes, hyperoxia (50% O₂) for 15 minutes and finally hyperoxia (100% O₂) for 12 minutes (162).

Carbon Dioxide

Much like hypoxia's stimulation of the peripheral chemoreceptors, hypercapnia exerts a powerful stimulatory effect on the central chemoreceptors to promote increases in blood pressure, heart rate (78, 91, 151) and ventilation (8, 33, 68, 78, 91, 143) in healthy individuals through activation of the sympathetic nervous system. As mentioned earlier, the peripheral chemoreceptors detect decreases in partial pressures of arterial oxygen (33, 64, 108); however, they are also able to detect increases in partial pressures of carbon dioxide, but to a lesser extent (74, 102, 110). The location of the central chemoreceptor was the point of some debate until Schlaefke (1981) found that the rostral and caudal chemosensitive areas located on the ventrolateral aspect of the medulla resulted in ventilatory and circulatory changes upon stimulation in cats (127). Further investigation determined that intermediate neurons existed which join these areas to the respiratory and cardiovascular controllers within the medulla (127). This autonomic reflex is one of many able to regulate and influence the specific areas of the brain, such as the medulla, to elicit reflexive responses. Increases in PaCO₂ stimulate respiratory centres, resulting in hyperpnea to eliminate excess carbon dioxide. As PaCO₂ decreases, this in turn suppresses the central chemoreceptors to decrease ventilation to maintain PaCO₂ at homeostatic levels.

Kara et al. (2003) observed that acute hypercapnic stress stimulated the central chemoreceptors to significantly increase sympathetic activity, ventilation and mean arterial pressure in healthy subjects (74). Central chemoreceptor stimulation via hyperoxic hypercapnia in healthy humans was also shown to elicit an acute increase in sympathetic activity resulting in elevated systolic blood pressure and an increase in vascular resistance (103). These results were supported by Usselman et al. (2015) who found significant increases in sympathetic activity, mean arterial pressure, and total peripheral resistance in response to hypoxic hypercapnia (however, both peripheral chemoreceptors and central chemoreceptors were stimulated) (151).

Early investigations in animals sought to isolate chemoreceptor activation through denervation of the peripheral chemoreceptors. However, results suggested that animals continued to respond with a substantial increase in ventilation in response to hypercapnia indicating that the central chemoreceptors are excited by acidity or

changes in carbon dioxide levels irrespective of the peripheral chemoreflex (87, 94, 161). Schwartz, Brackett, Jr., & Cohen (1965) found that canines exhibited linear and marked rises in hydrogen ion concentration as PaCO₂ incrementally increased effectively reducing pH and stimulating respiratory centres (129). This was subsequently confirmed by O'Regan & Majcherczyk (1982) who suggested that the central chemoreceptors respond to changes in hydrogen ion concentration in the interstitial fluid of the brain and thus disturbances of acid-base are responsible for ventilatory and circulatory adjustments during hypercapnia (110).

$CO_2 + H_2O \rightarrow H^+ + HCO_3^-$

These results were confirmed by Harada et al. (1985) when they investigated the effect of pH and hypercapnia on respiratory drives (59). They found that by keeping PaCO₂ constant by continuous equilibration of the solution with 5% CO₂ and lowering bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) to decrease pH, respiratory activity was higher than when pH was high as a result of higher HCO₃⁻ concentration (59). They concluded that bicarbonate may act independently as a stimulus to the chemoreceptor (59). This study, however, was performed using a rodent model *in vitro*, and must not be attributed to human physiology. Loeschcke (1982) discovered that it was ultimately the extracellular pH that is the main chemical signal determining ventilation in felines and that pH values are dependent on bicarbonate concentration as a result of altered PaCO₂ levels (93).

Evidence suggests that hypercapnic stimulus provokes larger increases in ventilation and sympathetic activity compared to hypoxic stimulus (21, 143). Somers et al. (1989) suggested that an inhibitory interaction exists between pulmonary afferents (lung stretch receptors) and peripheral chemoreceptors resulting in an attenuated ventilatory response to hypoxia, but this interaction does not exist with the central chemoreceptors (143). This implies that chemosensitivity in the central chemoreflex is greater than the peripheral chemoreflex. Interestingly, Smith et al. (2006), showed that central chemoreceptors account for approximately 63% of the steady-state ventilatory sensitivity to hypercapnia while the remaining sensitivity, approximately 37%, was due to the peripheral chemoreceptors at rest (139). Similarly, Gelfand & Lambertsen (1973)

showed that approximately 12% of the ventilatory response to hypercapnia in hyperoxic humans (peripheral chemoreceptor suppression) was still a result of peripheral chemoreflexes (53). These findings suggest that while hypoxia has been shown to only affect peripheral chemoreceptors (33, 64, 108), hypercapnia stimulates both the peripheral and the central chemoreceptors (74, 102, 110). However, for the purposes of this thesis, the CO₂ chemoreflex will be referred to as the "central chemoreflex" for clarity. Both additive responses, where the stimulation of one reflex does not influence the other (20, 102) and hyperadditive responses, where the stimulation of one receptor augments the sensitivity of the other (30, 66), have been found to exist in response to a hypercapnic-hypoxic stimulus.

Kontos, Richardson, & Patterson, Jr. (1968) investigated the vasodilatory effects of hypercapnia on healthy human forearm vasculature (81). They observed that hypercaphic acidosis was associated with increases in blood flow with no change in blood pressure and therefore they concluded greater peripheral vasodilation counteracts the increases of sympathetic activity during rest (81) which was confirmed more recently by Lipp et al. (2010). Similarly, cerebral vasculature is known to be reactive to hypercaphia. Initial research conducted by Kety & Schmidt (1948) investigated the effects of altered arterial tensions of carbon dioxide on cerebral blood flow (78). In response to 7% CO₂, they found that brain blood flow increased significantly by 75% (78). They concluded that these responses reflected cerebral vasodilation (78). Furthermore, Reivich (1964) studied the effects of PaCO₂ levels on cerebral hemodynamics in the rhesus monkey (118). They observed that when PaCO₂ approached low concentrations (10-15 mmHg), cerebral blood flow was diminished and vascular resistance increased via vasoconstriction (118). Further, at higher levels of PaCO₂ (150 mmHg), cerebral blood flow increased and vascular resistance decreased via vasodilation (118). More recently, Ito et al. (2003) investigated changes in human cerebral blood flow and volume in response to hypercapnia in healthy subjects under resting conditions (69). They similarly concluded that 7% CO₂ caused significant increases in both cerebral blood flow and volume (69). This evidence suggests that hypercapnia increases cerebral blood flow by directly dilating vessels in the brain and reducing resistance.





Orthostatic Stress

In general, orthostatic stress elicits increases in ventilation (17, 18, 54, 92, 101, 137, 164), end-tidal oxygen (ET-O₂) (92, 101), heart rate (5, 13, 54, 109, 165), mean arterial blood pressure (27, 141, 165), total peripheral resistance (25, 27, 105, 109, 126, 141), sympathetic activity (26, 87) and cerebrovascular resistance (109, 131) with decreases seen in brain blood flow velocity (109, 131), brain blood flow (89), stroke volume (165), cardiac output (54, 141, 165) and ET-CO₂ (18, 54, 92, 101, 109, 164) in healthy individuals. Immediately after moving into an upright posture, there is an immediate drop in mean arterial pressure and as a result, central venous pressure, venous return, and stroke volume decrease. The immediate fall in blood pressure inactivates baroreceptors leading to an increase of sympathetic activity resulting in an increase of heart rate and total peripheral resistance further leading to a recovery of blood pressure (27, 105).

Upon passive head-up tilt (HUT), pulmonary blood volume is redistributed to the lower half of the lung, and the mechanical descent of the diaphragm into the abdominal

cavity produces an increased functional residual capacity (26, 97) leading to increased ventilation (V_e) and tidal volume (V_t)(18). These findings were further supported by Chadha et al. (1985), Gisolf et al. (2004) and Loeppky & Luft (1975) where an increase in functional residual capacity (FRC) was observed in passive HUT to 60° in healthy individuals (17, 54, 92). These responses ultimately cause tidal volume to increase (17, 54, 92, 101, 164) without a concurrent decrease in breathing rate (18) leading to greater ventilation and therefore lower ET-CO₂.

Orthostatic stress leads to higher sympathetic nerve activity (27, 57, 88) and heart rate (5, 13, 54, 109, 165) with a concurrent decrease in stroke volume (54, 109, 141, 165) to maintain cardiac output and mean arterial pressure. Interestingly, Convertino (2014) suggests that the integrated control of heart rate requires a rapid response (parasympathetic; i.e. vagal withdrawal) to enhance tachycardia during the onset of orthostatic stress followed by extended (sympathetic) maintenance of elevated heart rate (24). The contribution of peripheral vasoconstriction from sympathetic activity during orthostasis has also proven to be an important regulator of orthostatic tolerance. The increased vascular resistance represents a fundamental compensatory mechanism for maintaining arterial pressure in response to reduced cardiac filling during lower body negative pressure (LBNP)(25, 126).

Interactions between autonomic reflexes have previously been studied. For example, the effects of hypoxia and hypercapnia in conjunction with postural changes (i.e. interactions between the chemoreflexes and the baroreflex) have been investigated (41, 46, 137, 147). Somers, Mark, & Abboud (1991) investigated the interaction between baroreflex and chemoreflex control of sympathetic nerve activity in healthy men and women in a combined group (142). They found that sympathetic nerve activity was attenuated upon stimulation of both the peripheral chemoreceptors (via hypoxia) and baroreflexes (via phenylephrine) as opposed to just hypoxia (142). They concluded that activation of baroreceptors by increases of arterial pressure markedly inhibited the sympatho-excitatory response to stimulation of the peripheral chemoreceptors by hypoxia (142). This inhibition of sympathetic activity as a result of baroreflex interaction with the peripheral chemoreceptors was not evident when investigating baroreflex and central chemoreceptor interaction as sympathetic activation was significantly higher

after phenylephrine infusion in the presence of hypercapnia (142). This suggests that baroreflex inhibition in the tilted position could influence chemoreflex stimulation. Further, during post-exercise circulatory occlusion to activate the metaboreflex, it was discovered that the activated metaboreflex can activate the peripheral chemoreflex in healthy men in the absence of hypoxia (39). This was determined via a suppression of muscle sympathetic nerve activity during hyperoxia administration with occlusion (39).

Richardson et al. (2002) showed that the ventilatory response to hypercapnia in healthy subjects was larger during HUT compared to the supine position suggesting the changes in ventilation reflect augmented central chemoreflex sensitivity in the tilted position; however, it is important to note that neither sex nor menstrual cycle were specifically investigated in this study as the sex of the volunteers were unspecified (119). Taneja et al. (2011) investigated the effects of central and peripheral chemoreceptor activity in the 70° HUT position in healthy individuals (mixed-sex design) (147). In response to hyperoxic hypercapnia during HUT, individuals experienced significant increases in minute ventilation, sympathetic activity, breathing rate, ET-O₂, mean arterial pressure, cardiac output and stroke volume (147). The magnitude of these increases was larger than those seen in the supine position suggesting heightened central chemoreflex sensitivity in the tilted position (147). In contrast, Skow et al. (2010) found no change in ventilation upon graded orthostatic stress (supine to 90°) with or without hyperoxic hypercapnia (via rebreathe) in healthy men and women (combined) concluding that HUT had no effect on the ventilatory response to hypercapnia (137). In response to eucapneic hypoxia in HUT, individuals were seen to have decreases in stroke volume and increases in heart rate compared to the supine position (147). These findings, together, suggest that peripheral chemoreceptor sensitivity is enhanced in the tilted position.

Cerebral autoregulation has been defined as the physiological regulatory mechanism that maintains a constant level of flow over wide ranges of perfusion pressure in the brain (84). Levine et al. (1994) presented two hypotheses whereby syncope, defined as a reduction in cerebral blood flow sufficient enough to result in a loss of consciousness, can occur in the face of orthostatic stress (89). The more commonly accepted hypothesis explains that the fall in cerebral blood flow is secondary

to either an excessive decrease in central blood volume or to inefficient neurohumoral responses to orthostasis (11). The second hypothesis suggests that failure of cerebral autoregulation could compromise cerebral blood flow during orthostatic hypotension (57); however, Levine et al. (1994) argues that subjects used in the latter investigation poorly represented normal physiology as they all had a history of recurrent, unexplained episodes of syncope and most of them received isoproterenol (a beta-adrenergic agonist) during their clinical evaluation (89). Levine et al. (1994) found that upon graded LBNP (orthostatic stress), healthy subjects experienced decreased cerebral blood flow velocity with a greater pulsatility index (PI) suggestive of greater cerebral vasoconstriction (89). These results were supported by Serrador et al. (2006) where healthy subjects were tilted to 85° for 10 minutes (131). During tilt, they observed a significant drop in PaCO₂ leading to significant reductions in middle cerebral artery velocity due to increased cerebrovascular resistance (131). Furthermore, these findings were augmented during hyperventilation which resulted in cerebral vasoconstriction (presumably due to a gradual decline seen in ET-CO₂) (131). Similarly, Edwards et al. (2002) investigated the effects of hypercapnia on cerebral hemodynamics in the 45° HUT position in healthy individuals (41). While cerebrovascular resistance index (CVRi) decreased in HUT under all conditions, CVR was significantly higher in hypocapnia and lower in hypercapnia compared to normoxia in both the supine and HUT positions (41).

Sex Differences

It is evident from most research looking at chemoreflex functioning that investigations have primarily either looked at animal models (21, 22) or men (18, 92, 101, 164) which has left a gap in physiological research regarding sex differences. Medical students, comprised of men and women, anonymously self-reported the prevalence, triggers and recurrence rate of syncope which ultimately showed that women experienced a higher prevalence of syncope compared to men (51). Similarly, Convertino (1998) showed that LBNP tolerance was significantly lower in women compared to age and fitness-matched men as greater reductions in stroke volume, cardiac output and mean arterial pressure were seen upon orthostatic stress in women (23). These results have also been seen in other studies investigating hemodynamic

responses to passive orthostatic stress between men and women (47, 98). In order to investigate sex-differences in chemoreflex function in upright posture, Taneja et al. (2010) investigated the effects of a breath-hold in healthy men and women during postural changes (supine and 60° HUT) (146). During breath-holding, men had increases in muscle sympathetic nerve activity (MSNA) burst frequency in both the supine and upright tilted positions, whereas women exhibited an increase only while supine (to a smaller magnitude than men) indicating suppression of chemoreflex induced sympathetic output in upright posture in women (146). The MSNA increases seen in men were greater in tilt compared to the supine position (146). This suggests that combined hypoxic-hypercapnia (breath-hold) and orthostatic stress influence MSNA differently in men and women. Furthermore, the absence of a sympathetic response to hypoxic-hypercapnia in upright posture observed in women may contribute to their greater prevalence of orthostatic intolerance compared to men (146).

Jarvis et al. (2010) found that women had impaired splanchnic vasoconstriction in the 70° HUT position compared to men which could lead to increased orthostatic intolerance via splanchnic blood pooling (70). In the resting, supine position, women had lower splanchnic blood flow and splanchnic vascular conductance compared to men (70). However, splanchnic vascular conductance decreased significantly in men from baseline to tilt, yet it did not decrease in women suggesting blunted vasoconstriction and therefore splanchnic blood pooling during an orthostatic challenge (70). Greater splanchnic pooling would contribute to reduced venous return and therefore lower stroke volume.

Cerebral hemodynamics between healthy men and women have been previously studied (32, 38). Investigating cardiovascular and cerebral hemodynamic responses to posture changes in young, healthy men and women, Edgell et al. (2012) found that men had significantly lower systolic and diastolic middle cerebral artery velocities and higher cerebrovascular resistance index compared to women, regardless of position (38). These results were likely due to the vasodilatory effects of estrogen (women were studied in the late follicular phase when there is estrogen present without progesterone) reducing cerebrovascular resistance index (113).

Very little is currently known about ventilatory and cerebrovascular responses between men and women in upright posture. Sébert & Sanchez (1981) looked at the respiratory effects of a hypoxic-hypercaphic breath-hold between healthy men and women in the supine and seated position (130). Ventilatory responses were found to increase similarly between the sexes following the breath-hold in both the supine and seated positions (130) despite previous observations that MSNA differs between the sexes in an upright breath hold (146). Cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity differences have been investigated between men and women in the supine position (75). Healthy subjects had their middle cerebral artery reactivity measured while breathing 95% O2 and 5% CO₂ (75). When plotting mean middle cerebral artery velocity responses as a function of increasing ET-CO₂ levels, women had a steeper mean slope compared to men suggesting they have higher cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity (i.e. vasodilation) compared to men (75). This implies women have heightened cerebral vasoreactivity compared to men which may lower the hypercaphic stimulus threshold needed to trigger vasodilation. However, it is important to note that in the study by Kastrup et al. (1997), the vasoconstrictive properties of 95% hyperoxia oppose the vasodilatory properties of 5% hypercapnia.

The respiratory muscle pump has been observed to play a critical role in the maintenance of venous return through a pressure gradient that exists between peripheral and thoracic veins (133). As a result of inspiration, the pressure within the chest averages approximately 5 mmHg less than atmospheric pressure (133). Since peripheral venous supply is subjected to normal atmospheric pressures, an externally-applied pressure gradient exists whereby blood is driven back to the heart (133). Thus, increasing respiratory activity promotes increased venous return in both men and women (133). This mechanism of regulating venous return can further be influenced by sexually-dimorphic differences in anatomy. An investigation observing the effects of sex and position on thoraco-abdominal kinematics was conducted on 34 healthy men and women (122). Specifically, they found that women have higher thoracic versus abdominal contribution to tidal volume than men (122). They suggest that this could contribute to the significantly reduced ventilation observed in women compared to men (122).

Menstrual Cycle

To date, very little research has investigated how menstrual cycle differences could affect chemoreflex activation. Peggs et al. (2012) showed that women in the early-follicular (EF) phase of the menstrual cycle (EF; days 2-5) reported significantly higher levels of light-headedness compared to when they were in their mid-luteal phase (ML; days 18-24) (114). These differences could be attributed to sex hormone concentrations since it has been established that the EF phase is when female sex hormones (estrogen and progesterone) are found to be at their lowest while the ML phase is when they are found at high levels, suggesting orthostatic intolerance in women could be associated with an absence of female sex hormones. Slatkovska et al. (2006) investigated the effects of menstrual cycle phase on the control of breathing in healthy women and observed that women during the ML phase had higher ventilation compared to women in the EF phase at rest even though PaCO₂ was significantly lower in the ML phase (138). This suggests women in the ML phase have augmented central chemoreflex activity at rest compared to women in the EF phase which could ultimately enhance orthostatic tolerance by increasing sympathetic output.

The effect of circulating sex hormones has been investigated previously to determine their influence on ventilation in women (35, 95). Dombovy et al. (1987) tested the hypoxic and hypercapnic ventilatory response in 8 healthy women throughout their menstrual cycle through a graded exercise challenge protocol (35). They discovered that women during their luteal phase of their cycle had significantly higher ventilation compared to their follicular phase in response to these stimuli throughout the progressive workloads (35). Similarly, Machida (1981) studied the influence of progesterone on arterial blood and cerebrospinal fluid acid-base balances in 36 healthy women during their menstrual cycle under resting conditions (95). They found that cerebrospinal fluid and PaCO₂ were significantly lower during the luteal phase compared to the follicular phase (95).

Fu et al. (2009) conducted an important study that investigated the impact of menstrual cycle phase on MSNA in response to graded orthostatic stress (47). Women were tested during the EF and ML phases (47). Women in the EF phase had significantly lower total sympathetic activation during upright tilt compared to the ML

phase (which correlates to greater feelings of light-headedness in this phase (114)) (47). In accordance with these findings, Minson et al. (2000) studied the influence of menstrual cycle on sympathetic activity in young, healthy women and found that resting plasma norepinephrine levels were also significantly higher in the ML phase compared the EF phase (100). Interestingly, it was observed that sympathetic baroreflex sensitivity was higher in women during the ML phase compared to the EF phase implying baroreflex-mediated responses may be influenced by female sex-hormones (100). Therefore, autonomic reflex interactions may play a role in orthostatic intolerance throughout the menstrual cycle.

METHODS

PARTICIPANT DESCRIPTION

All participants were recruited from York University, Keele Campus using online social media, posters, word-of-mouth as well as the KURE database used in the Kinesiology course; Research Methods of Kinesiology (KINE 2049). Inclusion criteria for participation included: 1) Be between 18-30 years of age, and for females, 2) Have a normal menstrual cycle (~28 days). Exclusion criteria for participants included: 1) No previously diagnosed cardiovascular or respiratory disease/dysfunction, and 2) Not be taking any oral contraceptives or have had any for at least one month prior to testing. All subjects were asked to refrain from smoking, heavy exercise, the consumption of fatty/processed foods as well as caffeinated and alcoholic beverages 12 hours prior to testing. Participants were also encouraged to eat a light breakfast and/or lunch before coming in for testing.

Men were tested once (n=13) while women were tested twice (n=14), once during the early-follicular phase (EF; days 2-5) and once during the mid-luteal phase (ML; days 18-24) of their menstrual cycle (Table 1). This assumed day 0 was the first day of menstruation. Female sex hormones (estrogen and progesterone) should be at their lowest concentrations during the EF, compared to the ML when these concentrations are at high levels. Cycle was determined by self-report.

Height (cm) and body mass (kg) were determined by a mechanical beam scale (Health O Meter Professional). These values were used to calculate body surface area (BSA; m²) using the DuBois and DuBois formula (12);

BSA (m^2) = 0.007184 x (weight^{0.425} x height^{0.725})

BSA was used to normalize hemodynamic variables such as cardiac output (Qi), stroke volume (SVi), and total peripheral resistance (TPRi). The forced expiratory volume in one-second test (FEV1/FVC) was measured by a heated, linear-pneumotachometer (Hans Rudolph, Series 3813) using spirometry. Self-reported physical activity levels and frequency were recorded and used as a prediction of cardiorespiratory fitness using the Ainsworth equation to obtain an index of VO_{2 max} (2);

$VO_{2 max} = 65 + 1.8$ (Frequency of Exercise/Week) – 10(Gender; Males = 0, Females = 1) – 0.3(Age) – 0.6(BMI)

	Mon	Women						
	Men	EF	ML					
n	13	14						
Age (Years)	22.8±1.1	22.8±0.8						
Height (cm)	174.0±1.7°	159.6±1.3				159.6±1.3		
Body mass (kg)	74.9±2.9 ^{αβ}	60.9±2.8	60.1±2.7					
Predicted VO2 max (mL·kg·min ⁻¹)	53.0±1.1 ^σ	41.1±1.3						
BMI (kg/m²)	24.7±0.7	24.0±1.2	23.6±1.0					
FEV1(%)	81.7±2.0	84.0±2.2						

Table 1: Participant Anthropometrics

EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase, VO₂ max is predicted maximal oxygen consumption, FEV₁ is the forced expiratory volume in one second test and BMI is body mass index. α indicates a main group effect (men vs ML; *p*=0.001), β indicates a main group effect (men vs EF; *p*=0.002), σ indicates a main sex effect (men vs women).

MEASUREMENT OF VARIABLES

Cerebral Hemodynamics

A Transcranial Doppler system (TCD; Multigon Industries Inc.) was used to quantify middle cerebral artery (MCA) velocity by using non-invasive ultrasound. A 2 MHz probe was secured in position at the right temporal window by a headband. The cerebrovascular resistance index (CVRi), resistance index (RI) and pulsatility index (PI) were calculated using the mean, systolic and diastolic values recorded from the Doppler ultrasound (see below). For the supine position, mean arterial pressure (MAP) was used to calculate CVRi, however, cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) was used for the tilted positions to account for the height difference (cm) measured from the heart to the ultrasound probe;

CVR_i(supine) = MAP/mean V_{MCA}, where V_{MCA} is middle cerebral artery velocity CVR_i(tilt) = CPP/mean V_{MCA}, where CPP = MAP (Distance X 0.7355 mmHg/cmH₂0) RI = (max V_{MCA} – min V_{MCA})/max V_{MCA} PI = (max V_{MCA} – min V_{MCA})/mean V_{MCA}

These indices are important in determining how cerebral vasculature responds to orthostatic and chemoreflex challenges. The RI, also termed the 'Pourcelot index' (116), and PI were developed to evaluate and compare Doppler waveforms to give an index of vascular resistance in the brain. As downstream impedance increases, the amount of diastolic flow decreases and as a result, RI and PI increase (56, 120).

Cardiovascular Hemodynamics

An electrocardiogram (ECG) was collected by a standard II-lead configuration where three disposable electrodes (3M Red Dot) were applied; one inferior to each clavicle on the delto-pectoral grooves and one on the left iliac fossa (left lower abdomen). Heart rate was continuously calculated from raw ECG data and was used to guantify heart rate variability and cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity. Beat-by-beat continuous blood pressure and cardiac output (Q; L/min) were recorded using a noninvasive finger-cuff. Cardiac output was calculated using the Modelflow algorithm (Finometer, Finapres Medical Systems). Stroke volume (SV; ml/beat) was calculated as a quotient of Q and heart rate (HR; bpm). Blood pressure measurements were corrected for finger placement using a standard height correction unit (HCU; ADInstruments, Human NIBP Height Correction Unit – MLT0902) that allowed the Finometer (Finapres Medical Systems) to continually correct for hydrostatic pressure changes if the hand moved below or above heart level. Total peripheral resistance (TPR; mmHg/(L/min)) was calculated as a quotient of mean arterial pressure (MAP; mmHg) and Q. A blood pressure measurement (Return-to-flow function of the Finometer) was taken at the beginning of each test to ensure accurate readings throughout continuous recording and to calibrate recorded values. Further, an automated single blood pressure measurement (BpTRU, BPM-100/200) was taken before each trial to ensure subjects reached baseline pressure between trials and to further calibrate the readings provided by the Finometer. Pulse wave data was collected at the ventral aspect of the left hallux (ADInstruments, Pulse Transducer TN1012/ST) and was used to measure pulse wave velocity (discussed below).

Respiratory Variables

Spirometry was collected by a heated, linear-pneumotachometer (Hans Rudolph, Series 3813). Volumes inspired and expired were calculated as positive and negative integrals of the spirometry channel, respectively. Tidal volume (Vt; L) was calculated as a cyclical measurement of the maximum peaks of the volume inspired while breathing rate was calculated as a cyclical measurement of the rate of inspiration. Lastly, ventilation (Ve; L/min) was recorded as a product of breathing rate (breaths/min) and Vt. The pneumotachometer was calibrated using a 3 Litre calibration syringe (Hans Rudolph, Series 5530) before each test. Oxygen (mmHg) and carbon dioxide (mmHg) levels were measured through O₂ and CO₂ analyzers (Vacumed, Model 17620/17630). End-tidal oxygen levels (ET-O₂; mmHg) were calculated as the minimum O₂ value at the

end of exhalation and end-tidal carbon dioxide levels (ET-CO₂; mmHg) were calculated as the maximum CO₂ values at the end of exhalation. Oxygen and carbon dioxide measurements collected and analyzed by the Vacumed devices were calibrated according to the daily barometric pressure provided by York University's Meteorological Observation station.

All signals obtained were relayed to a Powerlab (ADInstruments, PowerLab 16/35) data acquisition system which compiled analog data signals and converted them into digital signals. This data was then collected in Labchart software (ADInstruments, Version 8.1.3). One-minute averages for all hemodynamic, respiratory and cerebral variables were recorded at specific time-points from every trial. In the supine trials, one minute of data was selected from the last minute of baseline recording and the second minute of gas administration. In the tilted trials, one minute of data was selected from the last minute of tilt (pre-gas administration), and the second minute of gas administration (while in tilt).

PROTOCOL

Subjects were asked to come in approximately 15 minutes before testing to become familiarized with the design protocol, to read and sign the informed consent and to collect anthropometric measurements such as height (cm) and body mass (kg). Each test was comprised of a total of six trials, three of which were in the supine position and three in 70° HUT.



Figure 2: The time-line of the supine and tilted trials

In each position, medical-grade gases were administered for two minutes. These gases included; 1) A hypercapnic mixture (5% CO₂, 21% O₂, nitrogen balance), 2) A hyperoxic mixture (100% O₂), and 3) A normoxic mixture (0.03% CO₂, 21% O₂, nitrogen balance). Gas flowed through a portable humidifier (Fisher & Paykel Healthcare, HC 150 Ambient Tracking) prior to inhalation. Data collection did not exceed 2.5 hours and a washout period of 5 minutes was implemented in between each trial.

At the end of all trials, subjects were asked to perform the FEV1/FVC to assess their pulmonary function and to validate recruitment of healthy participants. Participants were blinded and randomized to the trials. The trial order was determined using a function that randomly assigns a number to each of the six trials (RAND function) and then subsequently ranking (RANK function) those random numbers (Microsoft Excel, Version 15.26).



Figure 3: The respiratory apparatus. 1) Detached inhalation tube, 2) Attached exhalation tube, 3) Pneumotachometer, 4) Filter, 5) Gas analyzers, 6) Mouth piece

AUTONOMIC INDICES

Heart Rate Variability (HRV)

Heart rate variability (HRV) is used to assess autonomic function (86) and is determined by vagal and sympathetic influences of the heart (15). Given its validation as a measure of autonomic functioning, HRV was used to help quantify parasympathetic and sympathetic tone in our participants. Five minute sections of ECG data were selected from the supine normoxic trial as well as the entire HUT portion of the tilted normoxic trial in order to compare HRV between the supine and HUT positions. Labchart software (ADInstruments, Version 8.1.3) was used for power-spectral analysis to determine time-domain (SDRR) and frequency-domain measurements. The low-frequency (LF) to high-frequency (HF) ratio (LF/HF) obtained were used to gauge how much of the variability seen was due to either sympathetic (LF) or parasympathetic (HF) tone during the supine and HUT positions.

Cardiovagal Baroreceptor Sensitivity (cBRS)

Five minute sections of ECG and beat-to-beat blood pressure data were selected from the supine normoxic trial and the entire HUT portion of the tilted normoxic trial. We used this data to compare the cBRS in the supine and HUT positions. Sequences of three or more beats in which systolic blood pressure (SBP; mmHg) and the R-R interval (ms) changed in the same direction (either increasing or decreasing) were identified and linear regressions were performed to be averaged that created a single slope expressing cBRS (spontaneous method) (9, 10).

Pulse-Wave Velocity (PWV)

Traditionally, arterial stiffness describes the ability of an artery to expand and contract in response to blood pressure changes (16); however, we used it a surrogate marker for sympathetic activity since vasoconstriction will result in arterial stiffening. Current evidence suggests a correlational relationship exists between central arterial

stiffness (carotid-femoral PWV) and muscle sympathetic nerve activity in healthy men (143).

While carotid-radial and carotid-femoral PWV have been shown to be valid measurements of peripheral and central arterial stiffness, respectively, this research examined finger-toe PWV which has been shown to be significantly correlated with carotid-radial PWV in young adults (40). Although a more common method of measuring arterial stiffness, carotid-femoral (or radial) applanation tonometry has been shown to be both expensive and technically difficult, requiring two technicians and costly equipment (40), thus a more simplified method of measurement (i.e. finger-toe) was used for this study. Both the finger and toe pulse waves were measured continuously using the Finometer (Finapres Medical Systems) and a toe pulse transducer (ADInstruments, Pulse Transducer TN1012/ST), respectively.

PWV = ΔD between two pulse waves (m) / Δt between two pulse waves (s)

The change in distance (ΔD) was calculated as; the distance from the sternoclavicular notch (as an index of the heart) to the Finometer finger cuff subtracted from the distance from the sternoclavicular notch to the toe. The change in time (Δt) was calculated as: the time of the foot of the blood pressure wave form of the finger (i.e. end-diastole) subtracted from the time of the foot of the pulse wave form of the toe using the foot-to-foot method (85). Pulse wave velocity was calculated from at least 20 consecutive heart beats from all supine trials at baseline and the second minute of gas administration.

STATISTICS

All results were analyzed using data analysis software (Sigmaplot, Version 12.0). Data was analyzed at two time-points within each trial, the minute prior to gas administration and the second minute of gas administration. Heart-rate variability and cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity was analyzed during five minutes of both supine

data and HUT data during normoxia administration. Responses were compared between the supine and tilted trials within each gas (i.e. supine hyperoxia versus tilted hyperoxia). It is statistically impossible to compare men directly to both phases of the menstrual cycle concurrently since men were only tested once and women were tested twice. Therefore, sex differences were investigated between men and each group of women by using multiple two-way repeated-measures ANOVAs (Sex and Posture (repeated) as factors). Women were analyzed using a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA (Menstrual phase (repeated) and Posture (repeated) as factors). Post-hoc analysis of interaction effects used Tukey's HSD test to determine which groups statistically differed from one another.

RESULTS

Supine Normoxia

Men had a significantly higher stroke volume index compared to women during the early-follicular phase (p=0.004) at baseline and during normoxia and mid-luteal phase (p=0.006) at baseline (Table 2). Women had a significantly higher total peripheral resistance index compared to men in both the early-follicular phase and mid-luteal phase (p<0.001) at baseline and during normoxia (Table 2). There were no significant main effects of time or menstrual phase on heart rate, mean arterial pressure or cardiac output index (Table 2).

Men had a significantly higher cerebrovascular resistance index compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (p=0.007) at baseline and during normoxia (Table 2); however, this difference was not evident compared to women during the early-follicular phase (Table 2). Women during the mid-luteal phase had significantly higher mean middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA) compared to men (p<0.036) at baseline and during normoxia (Table 2). There were no significant time or phase effects of systolic MCA, diastolic MCA, mean MCA, cerebrovascular resistance index, pulsatility index or resistance index at baseline and during normoxia (Table 2).

Men had significantly higher tidal volumes compared to women during both the early-follicular phase (p=0.004) at baseline and during normoxia; however, this

difference was not evident compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (Table 2). Women during their mid-luteal phase had significantly higher respiratory rates compared to their early-follicular phase (p=0.018) and men (p=0.041) (Table 2). Men had lower respiratory rate (p=0.04) and higher end-tidal oxygen levels (p=0.027) during normoxia compared to baseline but only when compared against women during the early-follicular phase (Table 2). There were no significant time or phase effects of tidal volume. Ventilation was significantly lower in women during their early-follicular phase compared to men (p<0.001) and their mid-luteal phase (p=0.008) at baseline and during normoxia (Table 2). During normoxia, women during both phases had significantly lower end-tidal carbon dioxide levels (p=0.05) and higher end-tidal oxygen levels (p=0.009) compared to baseline (Table 2). Women in their mid-luteal phase had higher end-tidal oxygen levels compared to their early-follicular phase (p=0.025) at baseline and normoxia (Table 2).

Normoxic Tilt

Compared to baseline, all groups had a significant increase in heart rate during tilt (p<0.001) and normoxia (p<0.001) (Figure 4A). Compared to baseline, all groups had significantly lower mean arterial pressure during tilt (p<0.019) and normoxia (p<0.006) compared to baseline (Figure 4B). Men had significantly higher cardiac output index compared to women during the early-follicular phase (p=0.044) (Figure 4C). All groups decreased cardiac output index during tilt (p<0.016) and normoxia (p<0.033) compared to baseline (Figure 4C). Stroke volume index decreased in all groups during tilt (p<0.001) and normoxia (p<0.001) compared to baseline (Figure 4C). Stroke volume index decreased in all groups during tilt (p<0.001) and normoxia (p<0.001) compared to baseline (Figure 4D). Men had significantly higher stroke volume index compared to women during the early-follicular phase (p=0.02) (Figure 4D). Total peripheral resistance index did not change in response to tilt or normoxia compared to baseline in all groups (Figure 4E). Men had significantly lower total peripheral resistance index compared to women during both phases (EF and ML; p<0.001) (Figure 4E). There were no significant effects of phase on heart rate, mean arterial pressure, cardiac output index, stroke volume index, and total peripheral resistance index during tilt or normoxia (Figure 4A-E).

	Men		Women			
Variables			EF		ML	
	Baseline	Normoxia	Baseline	Normoxia	Baseline	Normoxia
Hemodynamics:						
HR (bpm)	65.5±3.3	65.3±3.5	68.4±1.7	67.3±1.8	70.2±1.7	69.5±2.1
MAP (mmHg)	88.8±2.2	88.9±2.2	88.6±2.8	88.9±2.8	89.1±1.8	89.6±1.8
SVi (mL/m ²)	$0.05 \pm 0.002^{\alpha\beta}$	0.05±0.002 ^α	0.04±0.002	0.04±0.002	0.04±0.001	0.04±0.002
Qi (L/min/m²)	2.9±0.1	2.9±0.1	2.7±0.1	2.6±0.1	2.8±0.1	2.8±0.1
TPRi (mmHg/L/min/m ²)	8.9±0.7 ^{αβ}	9.0±0.7 ^{αβω}	13.1±0.9	13.4±0.9	12.6±0.7	12.7±0.7
Cerebrodynamics:						
Systolic MCA (cm/s)	95.5±5.7	92.2±6.1	97.7±4.2	97.6±4.3	105.4±4.8	105.7±4.9
Diastolic MCA (cm/s)	44.9±2.7	43.1±3.8	46.2±2.7	46.6±2.6	51.3±3.0	50.7±3.0
Mean MCA (cm/s)	62.2±3.6 ^β	59.5±4.8 ^β	66.3±3.3	66.1±3.4	72.3±3.6	71.9±3.8
CVRi (mmHg/cm/s)	1.5±0.1 ^β	1.6±0.2 ^β	1.4±0.1	1.4±0.1	1.3±0.1	1.3±0.1
PI	0.81±0.05	0.88±0.11	0.79±0.03	0.78±0.03	0.8±0.03	0.8±0.04
RI	0.53±0.02	0.54±0.03	0.53±0.01	0.52±0.01	0.5±0.01	0.5±0.02
Respiratory Measures:						
Ve (L/min)	12.6±0.3 ^α	12.7±0.8 ^α	9.8±0.5	10.0±0.4	12.2±0.6 ^ε	12.1±0.7 ^ε
Vt (L)	0.8±0.1 ^α	0.9±0.1 ^α	0.64±0.04	0.67±0.04	0.69±0.04	0.69±0.04
Respiratory Rate (breaths per minute)	16.7±1.1 ^β	14.9±1.1 ^{βω}	16.1±1.1	15.7±1.2	18.4±1.2 ^ε	17.9±1.0 ^ε
ET-O ₂ (mmHg)	114.7±1.6	$118.7 \pm 3.3^{\omega}$	114.5±1.5	116.8±1.8 ^γ	118.9±1.7ε	120.1±1.4 ^{εγ}
ET-CO ₂ (mmHg)	39.3±1.2	39.1±1.9	39.2±1.1	38.5±1.3 ^γ	37.1±1.1	36.7±1.0 ^γ

Table 2: Hemodynamic, cerebrovascular, and respiratory responses to normoxia in the supine position.

HR is heart rate, MAP is mean arterial pressure, SV_i is stroke volume index, Q_i is cardiac output index, TPR_i is total peripheral resistance index, MCA is middle cerebral artery, CVR_i is cerebrovascular resistance index, PI is pulsatility index, RI is resistance index, V_e is ventilation, V_t is tidal volume, ET-O₂ is end-tidal oxygen, and ET-CO₂ is end-tidal carbon dioxide. α indicates main group effect (men vs EF), β indicates main group effect (men vs ML), ϵ indicates main phase effect (ML vs EF), ω indicates a main time-point effect (against EF), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline.









Figure 4: Heart rate (HR; A), mean arterial pressure (MAP; B), cardiac output index (Q_i; C), stroke volume index (SV_i; D), and total peripheral resistance index (TPR_i; E) responses to tilt and normoxia in the tilted position. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. α indicates a main group effect (men vs EF), β indicates a main group effect (men vs ML), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black triangles, ML are white circles and EF are grey squares.

All groups had significantly decreased mean, systolic, and diastolic MCA in response to tilt (p < 0.036) and normoxia (p < 0.002) compared to baseline (Figure 5A-C). Men had significantly lower mean and diastolic MCA velocities compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (p<0.046) (Figure 5A,C). Women during both phases of their cycle decreased their cerebrovascular resistance index during tilt (p<0.001) and normoxia (p < 0.001) compared to baseline. Men decreased their cerebrovascular resistance index during tilt (p=0.018), but it was only lower during normoxia when compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (p=0.005) (Figure 5D). Men had significantly higher cerebrovascular resistance index compared to women during their mid-luteal phase at all time-points (p<0.001) (Figure 5D). All groups had significantly decreased cerebral perfusion pressure during tilt (p < 0.001) and normoxia (p < 0.001) compared to baseline (Figure 5E). There were no significant effects of sex or time on the resistance and pulsatility indices (Figure 5F-G). There were no significant effects of phase on mean MCA, systolic MCA, diastolic MCA, cerebrovascular resistance index, central perfusion pressure, resistance index, and pulsatility index during normoxic tilt (Figure 5A-G).

Men had significantly higher ventilation compared to women during the earlyfollicular phase (p=0.003) (Figure 6A), with women during their mid-luteal phase having higher ventilation compared to their early-follicular phase (p=0.034) (Figure 6A). Men significantly increased their ventilation during tilt (p<0.016) and normoxia (p<0.034) (Figure 6A). Women during both phases had significantly lower respiratory rates during normoxia (p=0.03) compared to baseline (Figure 6B). Men had significantly lower respiratory rates during tilt (p=0.009) and normoxia (p<0.001) compared to baseline but only when compared to women during the early-follicular phase (Figure 6B). Men had significantly larger tidal volumes compared to women during the early-follicular phase (p=0.035) (Figure 6C). All groups significantly increased their tidal volumes during tilt (p<0.017) and normoxia (p<0.003) compared to baseline (Figure 6C). Men significantly increased end-tidal O₂ levels during tilt (p=0.019) compared to baseline (Figure 6D), while significantly decreasing end-tidal CO₂ levels during tilt






Figure 5: Mean middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{mean}; A), systolic middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{systolic}; B), diastolic middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{diastolic}; C), cerebrovascular resistance index (CVR_i; D), cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP; E), resistance index (RI; F), and pulsatility index (PI, G) responses to tilt and normoxia in the tilted position. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. α indicates a main group effect (men vs EF), β indicates a main group effect (men vs ML), Θ indicates a main time-point effect (against ML in baseline), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black triangles, ML are white circles and EF are grey squares.









Figure 6: Ventilation (V_e; A), Respiratory Rate (B), Tidal Volume (V_t; C), End-tidal Oxygen (ET-O₂; D), and End-tidal Carbon Dioxide (ET-CO₂; E) responses to tilt and normoxia in the tilted position. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. α indicates a main group effect (men vs EF), β indicates a main group effect (men vs ML), ϵ indicates a main phase effect (ML vs EF), ω indicates a main time-point effect (against EF in baseline), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black triangles, ML are white circles and EF are grey squares.

(p<0.001) and normoxia (p<0.001) compared to baseline (Figure 6E). Men had significantly decreased end-tidal CO₂ levels during tilt (p<0.001) and normoxia (p<0.001) compared to baseline (Figure 6E). There were no significant effects of phase on respiratory rate, tidal volume, end-tidal O₂ and end-tidal CO₂ levels (Figure 6B-E).

All groups had significantly increased LF power with decreased total power and HF power in HUT compared to baseline (Men; $p \le 0.001$, EF; $p \le 0.001$, ML; $p \le 0.004$) (Table 3). Men had significantly higher LF/HF power and lower HF power compared to women during their early-follicular phase ($p \le 0.032$) (Table 3). This difference was also observed compared to women during their mid-luteal phase during HUT ($p \le 0.002$) (Table 3). Men had significantly higher LF power compared to women during the midluteal phase during HUT (p=0.003) (Table 3). Women during their mid-luteal phase had significantly higher LF power and lower HF power compared to their early-follicular phase, but only in supine ($p \le 0.038$) (Table 3). Men and women during their earlyfollicular phase were observed to have a significant increase in their LF/HF ratio during HUT compared to supine (Men; p<0.001, EF; p<0.001) (Table 3). In HUT only, women during their early-follicular phase had significantly higher LF/HF ratios compared to women during their mid-luteal phase (p=0.013) (Table 3). All groups had a significantly decreased cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity slope in HUT compared to supine (Men; p<0.001, EF; p<0.001, ML; p<0.001) (Table 3). All groups significantly decreased their cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity slopes in HUT compared to supine (p<0.001). Men had significantly lower cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity slopes compared to women during the early-follicular phase (p=0.026) (Table 3). Men had significantly lower standard deviation of the R-R interval during HUT compared to supine (p < 0.022) (Table 3). There were no significant effects of phase on the standard deviation of R-R intervals, total power and cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity slopes (Table 3).

Variable	Men		Women				
			E	F	ML		
	Supine	HUT	Supine	HUT	Supine	HUT	
HRV:							
SDRR (ms)	78.7±10.2	68.6±6.2 ^γ	74.4±7.1	62.2±4.6	68.6±6.5	59.2±4.8	
LF Power (nu)	37.6±5.3	75.5±4.6 ^{βγ}	30.3±3.3	61.0±4.6 ^γ	38.4±3.9 ^ε	55.6±4.3 ^γ	
HF Power (nu)	59.2±4.5α	24.9±4.5 ^{αβγ}	67.9±3.6	39.5±4.5 ^γ	59.6±3.9 ^ε	44.9±4.2 ^γ	
Total [Power(µs²)]	7511.1±1685.9	3612.0±737.6 ^γ	7307.5±1440.5	3026.2±609.1 ^γ	5442.5±963.0	2805.6±6±598. 5 ^γ	
LF/HF [Power(%)]	0.8±0.2 ^α	5.9±1.8 ^{αβγ}	0.5±0.1	2.2±0.5 ^{γε}	0.7±0.1	1.6±0.3	
cBRS:							
Mean Slope (ms/mmHg)	25.8±4.9α	6.9±0.9 ^{αγ}	34.6±3.4	11.9±1.4 ^γ	35.21±4.2	11.9±1.7 ^γ	

Table 3: Heart-rate variability and cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity during normoxia in the supine and HUT positions

EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase, HUT is head-up tilt, SDRR is the standard deviation between R-R intervals, LF is low-frequency, HF is high-frequency, LF/HF is the ratio between LF and HF, cBRS is cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity, and nu are normalized units. α indicates main group effect (men vs EF), β indicates main group effect (men vs ML), ϵ indicates main phase effect (ML vs EF), and γ indicates a significant difference from supine.

Hypercapnia

There were no significant effects of sex, phase, or position on changes in heart rate in response to hypercaphia (Figure 7A). Men had a significantly augmented increase in mean arterial pressure in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p<0.001) and during HUT compared to women in the early-follicular phase (p=0.026)(Figure 7B). Women tended to have significantly augmented increases in mean arterial pressure in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p=0.054). All groups had a significantly augmented increase in cardiac output index in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p<0.012) (Figure 7C). All groups had a significantly augmented increase in stroke volume index in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p < 0.001) (Figure 7D). Women during both phases had a significantly augmented decrease in total peripheral resistance index in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p=0.012) (Figure 7E). Men also had a significantly augmented decrease in total peripheral resistance index in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine, but only when compared with women during their mid-luteal phase (p=0.016) (Figure 7E). Men had significantly attenuated changes in total peripheral resistance index compared to women only during their early-follicular phase (p=0.004) (Figure 7E). There were no significant effects of phase on changes in mean arterial pressure. cardiac output index, stroke volume index or total peripheral resistance index (Figure 7A-E).

In response to CO2 (in both postures), men had significantly attenuated increases in diastolic MCA velocity compared to women during their mid-luteal phase (p=0.039) (Figure 8C). Men had a significantly augmented increase in central perfusion pressure in response to CO2 during HUT (p<0.001), which was not observed in women (Figure 8E). Men had a significantly augmented increase in central perfusion pressure in response to CO2 compared to women during the early-follicular phase during HUT (p=0.026) (Figure 8E). Women tended to have significantly augmented increases in cerebral perfusion pressure in response to CO2 during HUT compared to supine (p=0.054) (Figure 8E). There were no significant effects of phase on changes in mean MCA velocity, systolic MCA velocity, diastolic MCA velocity, cerebrovascular resistance index, central perfusion pressure, resistance index or pulsatility index (Figure 8A-G).









Figure 7: Changes in heart rate (HR; A), mean arterial pressure (MAP; B), cardiac output index (Q_i; C), stroke volume index (SV_i; D), and total peripheral resistance index (TPR_i; E) in response to hypercapnia in the supine and 70° head-up tilted (HUT) positions. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. α indicates a main group effect (men vs EF), Θ indicates main time-point effect (against ML in supine), μ indicates main group effect within HUT (men vs EF), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black bars, ML are white bars and EF are grey bars.







Figure 8: Changes in mean middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{mean}; A), systolic middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{systolic}; B), diastolic middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{diastolic}; C), cerebrovascular resistance index (CVR_i; D), cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP; E), resistance index (RI; F), and pulsatility index (PI; G) in response to hypercapnia in the supine and 70° head-up tilted (HUT) position. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. β indicates a main group effect (men vs ML), μ indicates a main group effect within HUT (men vs EF), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black bars, ML are white bars and EF are grey bars.

There were no significant effects of sex or position on changes in mean MCA velocity, systolic MCA velocity, cerebrovascular resistance index, resistance index or pulsatility index (Figure 8A-B, D, F-G).

Women during both phases experienced a significantly augmented increase in ventilation in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p=0.002) while men had a significantly augmented increase in ventilation in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine but only when compared to women during their mid-luteal phase (p=0.028) (Figure 9A). All groups had a significantly augmented increase in respiratory rate in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p<0.019) (Figure 9B). There were no significant effects of sex, phase, or posture on changes in tidal volume (Figure 9C). All groups experienced a significantly attenuated increase in end-tidal oxygen levels in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to supine (p<0.04) (Figure 9D). All groups had a significantly augmented increase in end-tidal oxygen levels of Sex or phase on changes in ventilation, respiratory rate, tidal volume, end-tidal oxygen levels or end-tidal carbon dioxide levels (Figure 9B-E).

<u>Hyperoxia</u>

Men had significantly attenuated decreases in heart rate in response to O₂ compared to women during their early-follicular phase (p=0.007) (Figure 10A). Men had an increase of mean arterial pressure in response to O₂ during HUT compared to supine but only when compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (p=0.029) (Figure 10B). All groups experienced a significantly attenuated decrease in cardiac output index in response to O₂ during HUT compared to supine (p<0.004) (Figure 10C). Women during the early-follicular phase tended to have a smaller decrease of cardiac output index in response to O₂ compared to the mid-luteal phase regardless of position(p=0.066) (Figure 10C). There were no significantly attenuated increases in cardiac output index to O₂ (Figure 10C). Men had significantly attenuated increases in stroke volume index in response to O₂ compared to women during their mid-luteal phase (p=0.009) (Figure 10D), regardless of posture.









Figure 9: Changes in ventilation (V_e; A), respiratory rate (B), tidal volume (V_t; C), endtidal oxygen (ET-O₂; D), and end-tidal carbon dioxide (ET-CO₂; E) in response to hypercapnia in the supine and 70° head-up tilted (HUT) position. EF is the earlyfollicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. Θ indicates a main time-point effect (against ML in supine) and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black bars, ML are white bars and EF are grey bars.









Figure 10: Changes in heart rate (HR; A), mean arterial pressure (MAP; B), cardiac output index (Qi; C), stroke volume index (SVi; D), and total peripheral resistance index (TPRi; E) in response to hyperoxia in the supine and 70° head-up tilted (HUT) positions. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. α indicates a main group effect (men vs EF), β indicates a main group effect (men vs ML), ϵ indicates a main phase effect (ML vs EF), Θ indicates a main time-point effect (against ML in supine), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black bars, ML are white bars and EF are grey bars.

All groups had significantly attenuated increases in total peripheral resistance index in response to O₂ during HUT compared to supine (p<0.006) (Figure 10E). Women during the mid-luteal phase had significantly augmented increases in total peripheral resistance index in response to O₂ compared to their early-follicular phase (p=0.044) (Figure 10E). There were no significant effects of posture or phase on changes in heart rate or stroke volume index (Figure 10A, D).

Men had significantly augmented decreases of mean and systolic MCA velocity in response to O₂ when compared to women during their early-follicular phase (p=0.017 and p=0.006, respectively) (Figure 11A-B). There were no significant effects of posture, sex, or phase on diastolic MCA velocity (Figure 11C). Men had significantly augmented increases in cerebrovascular resistance index in response to O₂ when compared to women during their early-follicular phase (p=0.006) (Figure 11D). Men had an increase of cerebral perfusion pressure in response to O₂ during HUT compared to supine but only when compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (p=0.029) (Figure 11E). There were no significant effects of posture or phase on changes in mean MCA velocity, systolic MCA velocity, diastolic MCA velocity, cerebrovascular resistance index, resistance index, or pulsatility index (Figures 11A-D, F, G). There were no significant effects of sex on changes in resistance index and pulsatility index (Figure 11F-G).

There were no significant effects of sex or phase on changes in ventilation, respiratory rate or tidal volume (Figure 12A-C). Men had a significantly attenuated increase in end-tidal oxygen levels in response to O₂ during HUT compared to supine but only when compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (p<0.001) (Figure 12D). There were no significant effects of posture on changes in ventilation, respiratory rate, tidal volume, and end-tidal carbon dioxide levels (Figure 12A-C, E). Women during their mid-luteal phase experienced a significantly attenuated increase in end-tidal oxygen levels in response to O₂ during HUT compared to supine (p=0.004) (Figure 12D). Men had significantly augmented decreases in end-tidal carbon dioxide levels when compared to women during the mid-luteal phase (p=0.015) in response to O₂ (Figure 12E).







Figure 11: Changes in mean middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{mean}; A), systolic middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{systolic}; B), diastolic middle cerebral artery velocity (MCA_{diastolic}; C), cerebrovascular resistance index (CVR_i; D), cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP; E), resistance index (RI; F), and pulsatility index (PI; G) in response to hyperoxia in the supine and 70° head-up tilted (HUT) position. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. α indicates a main group effect (men vs EF) and Θ a main time-point effect (against ML in supine). Men are black bars, ML are white bars and EF are grey bars.









Figure 12: Changes in ventilation (Ve; A), respiratory rate (B), tidal volume (Vt; C), endtidal oxygen (ET-O₂; D), and end-tidal carbon dioxide (ET-CO₂; E) in response to hyperoxia in the supine and 70° head-up tilted (HUT) position. EF is the early-follicular phase, ML is the mid-luteal phase. α indicates a main group effect (men vs EF), β indicates a main group effect (men vs ML), Θ indicates a main time-point effect (against ML in supine), and γ indicates a significant difference from baseline. Men are black bars, ML are white bars and EF are grey bars.

	Men		Women				
Trial			EF		ML		
	Baseline	Gas	Baseline	Gas	Baseline	Gas	
Normoxia	6.9±0.6	7.0±0.6	6.4±0.4	6.3±0.4	6.6±0.3	6.9±0.4	
Hypercapnia	7.0±0.6	7.8±0.8 ^γ	6.2±0.4	6.6±0.5 ^γ	6.6±0.3	7.0±0.3 ^γ	
Hyperoxia	7.0±0.6	6.7±0.6	7.0±0.8	7.0±0.5	6.4±0.4	6.8±0.4	

Table 4: Pulse-wave velocity during hypercapnia, hyperoxia and normoxia in the supine position

Where EF is the early-follicular phase and ML is the mid-luteal phase. γ indicates a significant difference from baseline; p<0.001).

Pulse-Wave Velocity

In the supine position, all groups experienced significantly higher pulse-wave velocity in response to carbon dioxide compared to baseline (p<0.001) (Table 4). There were no significant effects of time on pulse-wave velocity in response to normoxia or hyperoxia (Table 4). There were no significant effects of sex or phase on pulse-wave velocity in response to normoxia, hypercapnia or hyperoxia (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

<u>Summary</u>

In response to HUT, all groups had significant increases in heart rate and endtidal O₂ with decreases in stroke volume index and end-tidal CO₂. All groups had a significant decrease in mean arterial pressure due to significantly reduced cardiac output index with no concurrent decrease in total peripheral resistance. Men had significantly higher cardiac output index compared to women during the early-follicular phase (likely due to significantly larger stroke volumes) and lower total peripheral resistance index compared to women during both phases. Men had lower brain blood flow velocity compared to women during the mid-luteal phase while all groups had a significant decrease of cerebrovascular resistance index in response to HUT indicative of increased cerebral vasodilation. During HUT, women experienced a significant decrease in respiratory rate with a concurrent increase in tidal volume to maintain ventilation at supine levels. On the other hand, men also increased their tidal volume and decreased their respiratory rate yet this resulted in significantly higher ventilation during HUT and normoxia. These results suggest that men have desensitized pulmonary stretch receptors. Together, these results suggest the lack of hyperventilation observed in women during HUT could result in attenuation of the respiratory pump action causing diminished venous return in women.

All groups experienced a significantly augmented increase in cardiac output index in response to CO₂ in the HUT position likely due to an augmented increase in

stroke volume index with no concurrent changes in heart rate (possibly due to the greater respiratory rate and therefore greater respiratory pump in HUT). Only men had a significantly augmented increase in mean arterial pressure in response to CO₂ during HUT suggestive of increased sympathetic nerve activity or greater neurovascular transduction (i.e. the ability of blood vessels to constrict during sympathetic activation). Indeed, men had a smaller reduction of TPR during HUT compared to the other groups further suggesting increased sympathetic output or greater neurovascular transduction in men. In response to CO₂, men had significantly smaller increases in diastolic middle cerebral artery velocity compared to women during the mid-luteal phase indicating that women in the mid-luteal phase may experience greater cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂. However, there were no changes seen in cerebrovascular resistance index, resistance index or pulsatility index. During hypercapnic tilt, both men and women were observed to have significantly augmented increases in end-tidal CO₂ and respiratory rate with a decrease in end-tidal O₂. All groups had significantly augmented increases in ventilation during hypercaphic tilt. These results suggest that while the central chemoreflex is enhanced in HUT in both sexes, the autonomic or vascular responses to CO₂ in HUT are different between men and women. We suggest that in HUT during hypercapnia, men have greater sympathetic output (or greater neurovascular transduction) compared to women.

In response to hyperoxia during HUT, all groups were observed to have significantly attenuated increases in total peripheral resistance index (and attenuated decreases in cardiac output index from lower cardiac afterload) suggesting attenuated sympathetic tone indicating that the peripheral chemoreflex was inhibited in the upright posture. During hyperoxia, women during the early-follicular phase had a greater increase in total peripheral resistance index compared to the mid-luteal phase indicating that the presence of female sex hormones attenuates peripheral vasoconstriction. Compared to women, men had a smaller decrease in heart rate (early-follicular) and a smaller increase in stroke volume index (mid-luteal) in response to hyperoxia suggesting greater pulmonary vasodilation in men. During hyperoxia, men also had augmented reductions in systolic and mean middle cerebral artery velocities and an

augmented increase in cerebrovascular resistance index compared to women during their early-follicular phase implying greater cerebrovascular constriction.

Head-up Tilt in Normoxia

We hypothesized that in normoxic conditions: 1) During upright tilt, women would have a greater reduction of brain blood velocity compared to men, and 2) Men would have higher ventilation compared to women (in both supine and upright positions) and women during the mid-luteal phase would have higher ventilation compared to the early follicular phase (in both supine and upright positions). The first hypothesis was not supported yet the second hypothesis was partially supported.

Hemodynamic sex-differences have been previously noted where men have larger stroke volumes compared to women regardless of position (47, 60, 61, 98), and this was also observed in the current investigation. Yamada et al. (2007) studied 181 healthy subjects and discovered that women have significantly smaller ventricular volumes compared to age-matched men indicative of smaller stroke volumes contributing to a significantly smaller cardiac output index (163). This was supported by other studies finding cardiac output to be higher in men than women (47, 60, 61, 98). In response to varying lengths of orthostatic challenge (5 minutes to 45 minutes), both men and women have been observed to experience decreases in cardiac output as a result of a simultaneous decrease in stroke volume and increase in heart rate compared to supine (47–49, 82, 98, 105, 134). Our results agree with these previous findings as all groups were observed to experience a significant decrease in cardiac output index during HUT. This is likely due to the significant decrease in mean arterial pressure observed in men and women due to HUT. Interestingly, Fu et al. (2004) observed that only women experienced gradual decreases in both systolic and diastolic pressure due to 45 minutes of 30° and 60° HUT, respectively (47). Therefore, extending the trial length may have resulted in a maintenance of mean arterial pressure and cardiac output in men and not women during HUT which could be as a result of increased sympathetic activity or greater neurovascular transduction in men (47, 48, 134).

While we did not directly measure sympathetic activity, heart rate variability in men was significantly higher in the low-frequency domain (primarily sympathetic activity)

compared to the mid-luteal phase during HUT and significantly lower in the highfrequency domain (parasympathetic activity) compared to both phases during HUT indicating higher sympathetic and lower parasympathetic output in men compared to women. Similarly, cardiovagal baroreceptor sensitivity, another indicator of parasympathetic nerve activity, was also observed to be significantly lower in men compared to women during the early-follicular phase in both positions. Higher sympathetic activity in men would lead to higher blood pressure and peripheral vasoconstriction. However, Hart et al. (2011) observed that no relationship exists between muscle sympathetic nerve activity and total peripheral resistance in young women, contrary to what is seen in young men (60), and suggests that increased beta2adrenergic vasodilatory responses in women, may offset alpha-adrenergic-mediated vasoconstriction during a sympathetic stimulus (i.e. HUT) (60). Therefore, they conclude that in young women, sympathetic nerve activity does not determine peripheral vasculature resistance, cardiac output, or blood pressure (60). This could help to explain why men may be better able to maintain cardiac output index and mean arterial pressure during orthostatic stress.

Men were found to have significantly lower mean and diastolic middle cerebral artery velocities compared to women during the mid-luteal phase throughout the normoxic tilt trial. These results have been confirmed by previous studies showing significantly lower middle cerebral artery velocity in men (32, 38, 150, 153). This is likely explained by the significantly larger middle cerebral artery diameters in men compared to women (104). Further, estrogen's potent endothelium-dependent vasodilation (76, 113) likely resulted in the significantly lower cerebrovascular resistance index observed in women during the mid-luteal phase compared to men.

Contrary to our first hypothesis, women did not have a greater reduction of mean brain blood flow velocity during HUT compared to men. All groups experienced a reduction in mean, systolic, and diastolic brain blood flow velocity and cerebrovascular resistance index during tilt implying cerebrovascular vasodilation during HUT likely caused by the significant reduction in cerebral perfusion pressure during HUT. Contrary to our results, Abidi et al. (2017) found that men significantly increased cerebrovascular resistance index in response to 10 minutes of standing indicating cerebral

vasoconstriction in men during orthostatic stress (1). However, Abidi et al. (2017) used 10 minutes of active standing rather than 5 minutes of passive tilt, as used in the current study.

Ventilation was significantly increased in men during tilt and normoxia which was not observed in women. Confirming our results, previous studies also found increased ventilation in response to orthostatic stress (18, 54, 97, 101, 156, 164) due to concurrent increases in tidal volume (18, 54, 164). In the current study, all groups were observed to have significant increases in tidal volume with concurrent decreases in respiratory rate but only women did not increase ventilation during orthostatic stress. This could potentially be explained by sex differences in the Hering-Breuer reflex, a negative feedback loop where inflation of the lungs activates slowly adapting receptors to initiate a signal cascade resulting in termination of inspiration (133). Since men have anatomically larger lungs, the Hering-Breuer reflex may be less sensitive allowing for over-inflation of the lungs leading to increased ventilation compared to women. Romei et al. (2010) found that women have a lower abdominal contribution to ventilation compared to men (122) potentially allowing men to maintain mean arterial pressure through displacement of blood volume from the abdomen, presumably from the splanchnic vascular bed, increasing venous return (3). This increase in ventilation in response to orthostatic stress observed in men could result in an enhanced respiratory pump action compared to women leading to the maintenance of mean arterial pressure through greater venous return. Despite this sex difference in the ventilatory response to tilt, end-tidal CO₂ and end-tidal O₂ change similarly between groups (as previously observed by Serrador et al. (131)). Increased ventilation in men would normally be expected to decrease end-tidal CO₂ and increase end-tidal O₂; however, the movement of hypercapnic and hypoxic blood pools from the abdomen may obscure changes in gas exchange.

Partially confirming the second hypothesis, it was observed that men had significantly higher ventilation than women but only during their early-follicular phase, and it was also observed that women during the mid-luteal phase had higher ventilation than women in the early-follicular phase throughout the normoxic tilt trial. The greater ventilation in men is likely due to significantly greater tidal volume and lung sizes

compared to women. Dombovy et al. (1987) also found higher ventilation in women during their luteal phase compared to their follicular phase and attributed it to higher progesterone levels in the luteal phase (35). Indeed, the increase in ventilation due to progesterone can be mediated by upregulation of progesterone-receptors in hypothalamic neurons (7). Further, female cats injected with progesterone display increased phrenic nerve activity compared to males allowing the lungs to inspire quicker and deeper resulting in hyperventilation (7). The enhancement of ventilation by progesterone could also help to explain why no ventilatory difference was seen between men and women during the mid-luteal phase.

Although sympathetic activity was not measured directly, heart rate variability was used as an indicator of sympathetic nerve activity and showed that women have lower sympathetic output compared to men in both positions suggesting that men might be better able to maintain cardiac output and blood pressure through higher sympathetic nerve activity and/or greater neurovascular transduction. Further, men were observed to have higher ventilation in response to orthostatic stress leading to greater respiratory muscle pump action compared to women. Our results indicate that sexually dimorphic differences in anatomy and circulating sex hormones throughout the menstrual cycle can influence ventilation in men and women regardless of position.

Head-up Tilt in Hypercapnia

We hypothesized that: 1) Central chemoreflex function would be enhanced in the upright posture compared to supine, 2) In both the supine and upright postures, women in ML will have increased cerebrovascular reactivity to hypercapnia compared to men and women in the EF phase; however, women in the EF phase will have greater cerebrovascular reactivity than men, and 3) In both the supine and upright postures, women during the EF phase will have enhanced central chemoreflex activity in response to hypercapnia compared to the ML phase and men. Our first hypothesis was supported by the evidence, our second hypothesis was partially supported, but the third hypothesis was not supported by the evidence. Although men were observed to have a significantly augmented increase in mean arterial pressure in response to CO₂ during HUT compared to the supine position, all groups displayed a greater ventilatory

response in hypercaphic tilt compared to supine. These results support our first hypothesis that the central chemoreflex is enhanced in upright posture compared to the supine position in all participants likely due to interactions with the baroreflex.

In response to hypercapnia in the supine position, all participants increased heart rate, mean arterial pressure, and cardiac output index. These results confirm previous studies in healthy humans (28, 73, 78, 79, 91) and are likely due to increased sympathetic activation (28, 79). Middle cerebral artery velocity increased and cerebrovascular resistance indices decreased in response to hypercapnia confirming results of Ito et al. (2003) and Kety & Schmidt (1948) who also reported increased brain blood flow with a concurrent decrease in cerebrovascular resistance during hypercapnia (69, 78). All subjects increased ventilation, tidal volume, end-tidal O₂, and end-tidal CO₂ in response to hypercapnia. These results are consistent with previous findings that showed healthy humans respond to hypercapnia by increasing ventilation (14, 21, 33, 68, 143), tidal volume (14), end-tidal O₂ (28), and end-tidal CO₂ (28, 68, 79).

Compared to women, men displayed a greater increase in mean arterial pressure (and a corresponding attenuated decrease in total peripheral resistance index) in hypercaphic tilt indicating either greater sympathetic nerve activity or greater neurovascular conductance (as seen previously in men (61)) reflecting significant effects of sex on the autonomic and/or vascular responses to hypercapnia during HUT. Beyond the effects of CO₂ on autonomic function via the central chemoreflex, CO₂ also has strong vasodilatory effects on peripheral vasculature. By increasing end-tidal CO₂ to 9 mmHg above baseline, Simmons et al. (2007) observed vasodilation in cutaneous skin blood vessels in healthy men and women (135). Similarly, Kontos (1971) observed vasodilation and increased forearm vascular conductance in skeletal muscle of healthy men in response to inhalation of CO₂ (80). However, Viswanathan et al. (1976) administered 5% CO₂ to 20 healthy men which resulted in significantly increased pulmonary vascular resistance and cardiac output perhaps reflecting pulmonary vasoconstriction (155). Similarly, Balanos et al. (2003) studied 12 healthy subjects (mixed-sex) and found that pulmonary vascular resistance rose significantly in response to hypercapnia, suggesting pulmonary vasoconstriction (6). Therefore, we suggest that in the current study, the higher end-tidal CO₂ observed in hypercapnic tilt compared to

supine hypercapnia is responsible for the augmented increases in both stroke volume index and cardiac output index via pulmonary vasoconstriction. This increase of end-tidal CO₂ during tilt could be due to enhanced respiratory pump action increasing the venous return of hypercapnic blood from the periphery as suggested by Serrador et al. (2006).

Compared to supine hypercapnia, both men and women experienced augmented decreases in total peripheral resistance during hypercapnic tilt; however, the decrease was greater in women. This occurs in spite of presumed pulmonary vasoconstriction due to the greater end-tidal CO₂ observed in hypercapnic tilt in all subjects. Since we do not see an augmented decrease of cerebral vascular resistance during hypercapnic tilt, we hypothesize that the reduction in total peripheral resistance index in hypercapnic tilt is driven by greater peripheral blood flow in unmeasured vascular beds such as those in the muscles, liver, kidneys, and splanchnia. Interestingly, all groups had significantly increased pulse-wave velocity during supine hypercapnia suggesting increased peripheral vasoconstriction from increased sympathetic nerve activity.

The results of this study partially confirm those of Kastrup et al. (1997) who found greater cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ in women compared to men (75). In the current study, men had a significantly attenuated increase in diastolic middle cerebral artery velocity in response to CO₂ compared to women during the mid-luteal phase. This suggests diminished cerebral vasodilation in the presence of hypercapnia compared to women during the mid-luteal phase; however, there were no significant sex differences found within any of the measured resistance indices (pulsatility index, resistance index and cerebrovascular resistance index) or significant effects of HUT on the cerebrovascular responses to CO₂. Other unmeasured resistance indices, such as critical closing pressure and resistance area product (as described in 121), could display changes in cerebral vasculature responses. In order to make firm conclusions about cerebral vasoconstriction or dilation, future investigations using magneticresonance imaging to measure cerebral blood flow are important. Although we hypothesized that women during the ML phase would have increased cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ in both positions compared to the EF phase, there were no significant changes observed in cerebral hemodynamics in either position within the menstrual

cycle. This suggests that female sex hormone concentration does not influence cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ between the early-follicular and mid-luteal phases of the menstrual cycle. Similarly, we did not find any evidence that suggested cerebrovascular reactivity difference between the supine and upright posture. Peltonen et al. (2016) also investigated the cerebrovascular response to hypercapnia and found no difference between the early-follicular and late-follicular phases of the menstrual cycle (115). We did not find any evidence that suggested cerebrovascular reactivity difference between the supgested cerebrovascular reactivity difference between the suggested cerebrovascular reactivity difference between the sugine and upright postures.

All groups had significantly augmented increases in ventilation during HUT in response to CO₂. This suggests that women also experience interactions between autonomic reflexes in upright posture which could enhance the central chemoreflex (63) and/or attenuate the pulmonary stretch reflex (146) resulting in the observed augmented increase in ventilation during hypercapnic tilt. All participants experienced a significantly augmented increase of respiratory rate in hypercapnic tilt which would lead to greater respiratory pump action contributing to the observed augmented increases in stroke volume and cardiac output. Similarly, all participants experienced attenuated increases in end-tidal CO₂ and augmented increases in venous return from the enhanced respiratory pump action (as suggested by 133). There were no significant effects of menstrual cycle phase on the respiratory responses to hypercapnic tilt. This does not support out third hypothesis that women during the early-follicular phase would have enhanced central chemoreflex activity during hypercapnic tilt compared to the mid-luteal phase and men.

In the current study, only men had an augmented increase in mean arterial pressure during hypercapnic tilt suggesting sex-differentiated effects of the interactions between the baroreflex and central chemoreflex. These sex differences suggest one potential mechanism for greater orthostatic intolerance in women. All groups have enhanced central chemoreflex functioning during HUT in response to CO₂; however, the augmented increases in mean arterial pressure in response to hypercapnia in HUT observed in men suggests divergent autonomic responses between the sexes (but not between menstrual cycle phases).

<u>Head-up Tilt in Hyperoxia</u>

We hypothesized that: 1) In the supine posture, hyperoxia would decrease heart rate and cardiac output index while increasing stroke volume index in all groups (as observed previously), and 2) The peripheral chemoreflex would be activated in the upright posture (i.e. ventilation will decrease during hyperoxia) and this would be greatest in the EF phase.

Consistent with our first hypothesis; all participants had a decrease in heart rate in response to hyperoxia which has been confirmed in previous studies (31, 50, 77, 86, 148, 157), likely caused by greater parasympathetic activity as shown by the significant increases in the high-frequency domain of heart-rate variability analysis. Further, in response to hyperoxia, men and women had increases in stroke volume index, yet decreases in cardiac output index which has been reported previously (31, 50, 77, 148, 157). These decreases in cardiac output are likely due to increased cardiac afterload since men and women also increased total peripheral resistance in response to hyperoxia, as observed by others (31, 77, 148, 157), indicating peripheral vasoconstriction. Indeed, Ganz et al. (1972) showed that healthy subjects had reduced coronary sinus blood flow due to increased left-ventricular coronary resistance in response to 90-95% O₂ (50). In the current study, pulse-wave velocity was not significantly altered due to hyperoxia in the supine position which appears to conflict with the increase of total peripheral resistance. However, finger-toe pulse wave velocity is a measurement of arterial stiffness in the limbs and central arteries only and does not consider potential vasoconstriction in other vascular beds.

In response to hyperoxia during HUT, there was a significantly attenuated increase in total peripheral resistance and an attenuated decrease in cardiac output index in all groups suggesting attenuated peripheral vasoconstriction and sympathetic output, partially supporting our second hypothesis that the peripheral chemoreceptors are activated during orthostatic stress. This could be explained by interactions with other reflexes during upright posture such as the baroreflex and/or the metaboreflex. For example, during HUT, baroreflexes are deactivated due to an immediate decrease in blood pressure and a lack of distension in artery walls (48, 49, 58), and interactions between the baroreflex and the chemoreflex have previously been observed in dogs

such that the ventilatory responses to chemoreceptor stimulation are augmented by baroreceptor unloading and attenuated by baroreceptor activation (62). Similarly, in humans, stimulation of the metaboreflex via post-exercise circulatory occlusion activates the peripheral chemoreflex (39). Therefore, our observation that the peripheral chemoreflex is activated in upright posture could be due to activation of the metaboreflex via muscle activation. Interestingly, women during the early-follicular phase had augmented increases in total peripheral resistance index compared to the mid-luteal phase in response to hyperoxia, regardless of position. Therefore, higher levels of circulating sex hormones could be responsible for less peripheral vasoconstriction as observed by previous studies (76, 113). However, contrary to our hypothesis, there was no evidence of a menstrual cycle phase effect on the activation of the peripheral chemoreflex in upright posture.

All participants responded to hyperoxia with lower middle cerebral artery velocity (mean, systolic, and diastolic) and higher cerebrovascular resistance index in all groups indicating cerebrovascular vasoconstriction. The cerebral arteries are known to constrict due to hyperoxia in healthy individuals (possibly due to the generation of superoxide anions, thus resulting in inactivation of nitric oxide as observed by Zhilyaev et al. (2003)). This has been widely studied and confirmed by others who saw consistent decreases in brain blood flow velocity and increased cerebrovascular resistance in healthy subjects (4, 78, 106, 111, 123, 159). However, previous investigations studied only men (78, 159), looked at older populations (4, 106) or did not differentiate the cerebrovascular responses by sex-differences (111). Interestingly, in the current study, men had greater decreases in mean and systolic middle cerebral artery velocities and a greater increase of cerebrovascular resistance index in response to hyperoxia regardless of position compared to women in the early-follicular phase, thus indicating greater cerebral vasoconstriction during hyperoxia. This difference was not observed in women during the mid-luteal phase. Although we observed cerebral vasoconstriction in all participants in response to hyperoxia, we did not find any evidence of HUT influencing cerebral vasoconstriction during hyperoxia.

Hyperoxia resulted in higher ventilation and tidal volume leading to higher endtidal O₂ and lower end-tidal CO₂. However, no changes in the ventilatory responses to

hyperoxia were observed during HUT except for an attenuated increase of end-tidal O₂ in women during the mid-luteal phase and men when compared to women in the midluteal phase. These attenuations were only approximately 6.3% in women during the mid-luteal phase and 5.3% in men and the final end-tidal O₂ values during hyperoxic tilt were still considerably higher than what would lead to 100% hemoglobin saturation. Previous studies have shown increases in ventilation in young healthy subjects in response to 75%-99.4% hyperoxia (8, 83); however, these studies administered hyperoxia for 30 minutes (8) and 50 minutes (83). The proposed mechanism for this increase in ventilation was due to the "Haldane effect" where oxygenation of pulmonary blood in the lungs readily displaces CO₂ from hemoglobin resulting in hyperventilation (19). Men had significantly augmented decreases in end-tidal CO₂ levels in response to hyperoxia possibly due to greater pulmonary vasodilation (as a result of the vasodilatory effects of testosterone on pulmonary vasculature (42, 72, 124)) and therefore improved gas exchange. Greater pulmonary vasodilation in men during hyperoxia is further evidenced by the smaller increase of stroke volume index. The augmented reduction in end-tidal CO₂ could also help to explain the greater vasoconstriction in the cerebrovasculature of men. The suppression of the peripheral chemoreflex in hyperoxic tilt should have produced attenuated ventilation in all subjects, yet this was not observed. We suggest that the autonomic interactions occurring in upright posture indeed result in lower sympathetic output during hyperoxia as expected due to inhibition of the peripheral chemoreceptor; however, due to the changes in mechanical forces on the chest cavity (i.e. gravity pulling the diaphragm downwards) and therefore, pulmonary stretch, the expected reduction in ventilation was obscured.

These results suggest that in hyperoxic tilt there is an overall reduction in sympathetic tone indicated by the attenuated increase of total peripheral resistance index and attenuated decrease of cardiac output index; however, this is not reflected in cerebrovascular, respiratory, or mean arterial pressure responses. Future investigations utilizing direct measurements of muscle sympathetic nerve activity responses to hyperoxia during HUT are warranted to firmly conclude that the peripheral chemoreflex is indeed activated during upright posture.

CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this research was to investigate central chemoreflex activation and peripheral chemoreflex suppression with hypercapnia and hyperoxia, respectively, while supine or upright while also investigating sex and/or menstrual cycle differences. This investigation confirmed that; 1) the central chemoreflex is augmented in men and women during HUT, and 2) the peripheral chemoreflex is activated in men and women during HUT. Under normoxic conditions regardless of position, men were observed to have lower middle cerebral artery velocities compared to women in the ML phase. Ventilation was significantly increased in men in tilt which was not observed in women, and women in the mid-luteal phase were observed to have higher ventilation compared to the early-follicular phase in both positions. Men and women experienced lower brain blood velocity, orthostatic hypotension and decreased cardiac output index during HUT. In women, the absence of an increase in respiratory pump activity (i.e. no increase in ventilation) likely plays a role in the higher prevalence of orthostatic hypotension.

In response to hypercapnia during tilt, both men and women exhibited significant but divergent responses compared to supine hypercapnia. While all participants had greater ventilation during hypercaphic tilt, only men had augmented increases in mean arterial pressure. These results suggest that central chemoreflex activation is augmented in both men and women during HUT likely due to interactions with other autonomic reflexes; however, this augmentation results in divergent autonomic responses between the sexes. Although no menstrual cycle differences were observed in the cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ in response to hypercaphia, women in the ML phase were exhibited to have greater increases in diastolic MCA velocity during hypercapnia compared to men likely due to the presence of female sex hormones causing more vasodilation. However, no sex differences were observed in resistance indices of cerebrovasculature responses to hypercapnia, thus, further investigation into other measurements of resistance may support the observed differences. Both men and women exhibited peripheral chemoreflex activation during HUT as evidenced by the attenuated increase of total peripheral resistance index and attenuated decrease of cardiac output index during HUT. This is suggestive of autonomic reflex interactions (i.e. peripheral chemoreflex and baroreflex) during HUT in both men and women.

There were very few significant main effects of menstrual cycle throughout this investigation other than reduced ventilation in the mid-luteal phase compared to the early-follicular phase; however, that had already been well documented. The importance of testing women throughout the menstrual cycle should not be underestimated. When comparing each phase to men, sex differences were not always evident. Therefore, when investigating sexually dimorphic responses, menstrual cycle should be taken into consideration to avoid false negatives or false positives.

The respiratory pump plays a crucial role in the maintenance of venous return, cardiac output index and mean arterial pressure during orthostatic stress. However, by not increasing ventilation in HUT, women displayed attenuated respiratory pump action in HUT compared to men which may precipitate syncope, lightheadedness, orthostatic hypotension and fainting observed in women. Further, increased sympathetic nerve activity, greater neurovascular transduction, improved pulmonary gas exchange, and/or reliance on abdominal breathing could allow men to maintain mean arterial blood pressure during orthostatic stress better than women. Refer to Appendix A for summary of results.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE STUDIES

This study collected pulse-wave velocity using pulse waves from the finger and toe. Although not considered the "gold standard" of measuring central arterial stiffness (carotid-femoral pulse-wave velocity is the "gold standard") (85), this measurement has been found to be closely correlated with carotid-radial pulse-wave velocity in young adults (40). This simplified method of collection is not a direct measurement of central arterial stiffness as is carotid-femoral pulse-wave velocity. Rather, it is a measure of peripheral arterial stiffness. Although pulse-wave velocity is not a direct measurement of muscle sympathetic nerve activity, it has been shown that there is a strong correlation between the stiffening of arteries (reflected by high pulse-wave velocity) and sympathetic activation (145), thus, it was used in this study as an indirect, non-invasive, surrogate marker for sympathetic activity. In future studies, implementation of microneurography to directly assess muscle sympathetic activation will strengthen
conclusions regarding sympathetic activation. Lastly, since this method required a pulse transducer to be placed on the toe, signal quality was insufficient in most participants during HUT, thus, we were unable to determine arterial stiffness during HUT.

In response to normoxia in the supine position, women had increases in end-tidal O₂ with concurrent decreases in end-tidal CO₂ compared to baseline. This could be due to the constant flow of the normoxic mixture from the tanks into the respiratory apparatus (Figure 3) during gas administration, thus, increasing end-tidal O₂ and reducing end-tidal CO₂ by approximately 1-2% (Table 2).

All female participants in this study self-reported menstrual cycle phase defining day 0 as the first day of menstruation. Unfortunately, we did not confirm plasma hormone concentrations of estrogen or progesterone in the mid-luteal phase of the menstrual cycle (days 18-24). Future studies should include this or urinary testing of luteinizing hormone to confirm ovulation. Similarly, we did not collect blood samples for plasma hormone measurements of vasoactive hormones such as norepinephrine, epinephrine, renin, and arginine vasopressin. The concentrations of these hormones have been observed to change in men and women during postural changes (supine to 70° HUT), and found to be influenced by sex and position (52). Measurement of these circulating hormones would be beneficial in accounting for vasoactive influences on cardiovascular and cerebrovascular responses between men and women and during posture changes.

True cerebral blood flow, measured as the product of mean blood flow velocity and cross-sectional area of the vessel, was unable to be quantified due to the inability of measuring the cross-sectional area of the middle cerebral artery. However, previous studies have found no significant changes in middle cerebral artery diameter during either 10 minutes of orthostatic stress (132) or 3 minutes of hyperventilation (152) in mixed-sex groups. Direct measurement of cerebral vessel diameter through magnetic resonance imaging will allow an accurate calculation of flow to investigate cerebrovascular reactivity with or without orthostatic stress.

Peripheral blood flow was not measured in this study. This limitation in conjunction with no direct measurements of muscle sympathetic nerve activity omits an accurate indication of neurovascular transduction in our participants. Future studies

66

should implement ultrasonography to measure cross-sectional areas of peripheral blood vessels to determine vasoconstriction or vasodilation and, as mentioned previously, microneurography to directly measure muscle sympathetic nerve activity. The combination of measurements will help to accurately describe changes in neurovascular transduction.

Blood oxygen saturation levels in our participants were not monitored through pulse-oximetry although we expected it to rise to 100% in response to hyperoxia. Recently, Ceylan et al. (2016) showed that blood oxygen saturation did not differ between 5 different positions in 235 young, healthy men and women and that they remained in a normal range (94-98%) (140) throughout testing. Since our protocol did not include the effects of hypoxia on cardiovascular, respiratory, or cerebral variables, pulse-oximetry was not necessary for the health and safety of our participants. In future studies, we plan to implement a hypoxic protocol to assess peripheral chemoreflex activation in the supine and upright postures. This will require the use of pulse-oximetry.

The relationship between respiration and hemodynamics is closely linked by the respiratory muscle pump and is an important factor in maintaining venous return during orthostatic stress (99, 125). As seen previously, inferior vena cava diameter and central venous pressure measurements have been used as indices of venous return (37); however, these measurements were not used in the current study. We were therefore unable to make firm conclusions about changes in venous return since we were unable to directly measure it.

There were no direct measurements of participant fitness (i.e. VO_{2max}). However, we implemented the use of the Ainsworth equation which has been shown to represent 78% (R² = 0.78) of the variance observed in measured VO_{2max} thus proving to be a valid predicted measure of VO_{2max} in young healthy individuals (2).

Future studies could incorporate elite athletes to determine their responses to chemoreflex and orthostatic stress to determine if highly trained individuals are less able to maintain orthostatic tolerance compared to untrained individuals. Further, our lab hopes to use this data to expand our research to investigate clinical populations such as patients with postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome (POTS) and orthostatic hypotension, conditions that are highly prevalent in women.

67

REFERENCES

- Abidi S, Nili M, Serna S, Kim S, Hazlett C, Edgell H. Influence of sex, menstrual cycle and oral contraceptives on cerebrovascular resistance and cardiorespiratory function during Valsalva or standing. *J. Appl. Physiol.* (2017). doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00035.2017.
- Ainsworth BE, Richardson MT, Jacobs, Jr. DR, Leon AS. Prediction of Cardiorespiratory Fitness Using Physical Activity Questionnaire Data. *Med Exericse, Nurtrition, Heal* 1: 75–82, 1992.
- Aliverti A, Bovio D, Fullin I, Dellaca RL, Mauro AL, Pedotti A, Macklem PT. The Abdominal Circulatory Pump. *PLoS One* 4: 1–15, 2009.
- Amano T, Meyer JS, Okabe T, Shaw T, Mortel KF. Cerebral Vasomotor Responses During Oxygen Inhalation: Results in Normal Aging and Dementia. *Arch Neurol* 40: 277–282, 1983.
- Asahina M, Sato J, Tachibana M, Hattori T. Cerebral blood flow and oxygenation during head-up tilt in patients with multiple system atrophy and healthy control subjects. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 12: 472–477, 2006.
- Balanos GM, Talbot NP, Dorrington KL, Robbins PA. Human pulmonary vascular response to 4 h of hypercapnia and hypocapnia measured using Doppler echocardiography. J Appl Physiol 94: 1543–1551, 2003.
- 7. **Bayliss DA**, **Millhorn DE**. Central neural mechanisms of progesterone action: application to the respiratory system. *J Appl Physiol* 73: 393–404, 1992.
- Becker HF, Polo O, McNamara SG, Berthon-Jones M, Sullivan CE. Effect of different levels of hyperoxia on breathing in healthy subjects. *J Appl Physiol* 81: 1683–1690, 1996.
- Bertinieri G, Di Rienzo M, Cavallazzi A, Ferrari AU, Pedotti A, Mancia G. Evaluation monitoring of baroreceptor reflex by blood pressure in unanesthetized cats. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol 254: H377–H383, 1988.
- Blaber AP, Yamamoto Y, Hughson RL. Methodology of spontaneous barorefiex relationship assessed by surrogate data analysis. *Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol* 268: H1682–H1687, 1995.

- Blomqvist CG. Orthostatic Hypotension [Online]. Hypertension 8: 722–731, 1986. http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/orthostatichypotension/basics/definition/con-20031255.
- 12. **Du Bois D**, **Du Bois EF**. Clinical calorimetry: formula to estimate the approximate surface area if height and weight be known. *Arch Intern Med* 17: 863–871, 1916.
- Bondar RL, Dunphy PT, Moradshahi P, Kassam MS, Blaber AP, Stein F, Freeman R. Cerebrovascular and Cardiovascular Responses to Graded Tilt in Patients With Autonomic Failure. *Stroke* 28: 1677–1685, 1997.
- 14. **Brown SJ**, **Barnes MJ**, **Mündel T**. Effects of hypoxia and hypercapnia on human HRV and respiratory sinus arrhythmia. *Acta Physiol Hung* 101: 263–272, 2014.
- 15. **Casolo G**, **Balli E**, **Taddei T**, **Amuhasi J**, **Gori C**. Decreased spontaneous heart rate variability in congestive heart failure. *Am J Cardiol* 64: 1162–1167, 1989.
- 16. **Cecelja M**, **Chowienczyk P**. Role of arterial stiffness in cardiovascular disease. *JRSM Cardiovasc Dis* 1: 11, 2012.
- Chadha TS, Lang E, Birch S, Sackner MA. Respiratory Drive in Nonsmokers and Smokers Assessed by Passive Tilt and Mouth Occlusion Pressure: Response to Rebreathing Carbon Dioxide. *Chest* 87: 6–10, 1985.
- Chang AT, Boots RJ, Brown MG, Paratz JD, Hodges PW. Ventilatory changes following head-up tilt and standing in healthy subjects. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 95: 409–417, 2005.
- Christiansen J, Douglas CG, Haldane JS. The Absorption and Dissociation of Carbon Dloxide by Human Blood. *J Physiol* 48: 244–271, 1914.
- Clement ID, Pandit JJ, Bascom DA, Dorrington KL, O'Connor DF, Robbins PA. An assessment of central-peripheral ventilatory chemoreflex interaction in humans. *J Physiol* 485: 561–570, 1995.
- 21. **Comroe, Jr. JH**. The Location and Function of the Chemoreceptors of the Aorta. *Am J Physiol* 127: 176–191, 1939.
- Comroe, Jr. JH, Schmidt CF. The Part Played by Reflexes from the Carotid Body in the Chemical Regulation of Respiration in the Dog. *Am J Physiol* 121: 75– 97, 1937.
- 23. Convertino VA. Gender differences in autonomic functions associated with blood

pressure regulation. Am J Physiol 275: R1909-20, 1998.

- 24. **Convertino VA**. Neurohumoral mechanisms associated with orthostasis: Reaffirmation of the significant contribution of the heart rate response. *Front Physiol* 5, 2014.
- Convertino VA, Sather TM, Goldwater DJ, Alford WR. Aerobic fitness does not contribute to prediction of orthostatic intolerance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 18: 551– 556, 1986.
- 26. **Coonan TJ**, **Hope CE**. Cardio-respiratory effects of change of body position. *Can J Anaesth* 30: 424–437, 1983.
- 27. **Cooper VL**, **Hainsworth R**. Carotid baroreceptor reflexes in humans during orthostatic stress. *Exp Physiol* 86: 677–681, 2001.
- Cooper VL, Pearson SB, Bowker CM, Elliott MW, Hainsworth R. Interaction of chemoreceptor and baroreceptor reflexes by hypoxia and hypercapnia - a mechanism for promoting hypertension in obstructive sleep apnoea. *J Physiol* 568: 677–687, 2005.
- Crawford P, Good PA, Gutierrez E, Feinberg JH, Boehmer JP, Silber DH,
 Sinoway LI. Effects of supplemental oxygen on forearm vasodilation in humans. J Appl Physiol 82: 1601–1606, 1997.
- Cunningham DJC. Studies on Arterial Chemoreceptors in Man. J Physiol 384: 1– 26, 1987.
- Daly WJ, Bondurant S. Effects of oxygen breathing on the heart rate, blood pressure, and cardiac index of normal men - resting, with reactive hyperemia, and after atropine. *J Clin Invest* 41: 126–132, 1962.
- Deegan BM, Devine ER, Geraghty MC, Jones E, Serrador JM. The relationship between cardiac output and dynamic cerebral autoregulation. *J Appl Physiol* 109: 1424–1431, 2010.
- 33. Dejours P. Chemoreflexes in Breathing. Am Phys Soc 42: 335–358, 1962.
- 34. Dejours P, Labrousse Y, Raynaud J, Girard F, Teillac A. Stimulus oxygene de la ventilation au repos et au cours de l'exercise musculaire a basse altitude (50 m) chez l'Homme. *Rev Fr Etud Clin Biol* 3: 105–123, 1958.
- 35. Dombovy ML, Bonekat HW, Williams TJ, Staats BA. Exercise performance and

ventilatory response in the menstrual cycle. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 19: 111–117, 1987.

- 36. **Duling BR**. Microvascular Responses to Alterations in Oxygen Tension. *Circ Res* 31: 481–489, 1972.
- Edgell H, Grinberg A, Gagné N, Beavers KR, Hughson RL. Cardiovascular responses to lower body negative pressure before and after 4 h of head-down bed rest and seated control in men and women. *J Appl Physiol* 113: 1604–1612, 2012.
- Edgell H, Robertson AD, Hughson RL. Hemodynamics and brain blood flow during posture change in younger women and postmenopausal women compared with age-matched men. *J Appl Physiol* 112: 1482–1493, 2012.
- Edgell H, Stickland MK. Activation of the carotid chemoreflex secondary to muscle metaboreflex stimulation in men. *AJP Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 306: R693–R700, 2014.
- Edgell H, Stickland MK, MacLean JE. A simplified measurement of pulse wave velocity is not inferior to standard measurement in young adults and children. *Blood Press Monit* 21: 192–195, 2016.
- Edwards MR, Shoemaker JK, Hughson RL. Dynamic modulation of cerebrovascular resistance as an index of autoregulation under tilt and controlled PET(CO(2)). Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283: R653-62, 2002.
- 42. English KM, Jones RD, Jones TH, Morice AH, Channer KS. Gender Differences in the Vasomotor Effects of Different Steroid Hormones in Rat Pulmonary and Coronary Arteries. *Horm Metab Res* 33: 645–652, 2001.
- 43. Floyd K, Hick VE, Morrison JFB. The influence of visceral mechanoreceptors on sympathetic efferent discharge in the cat. *J Physiol* 323: 65–75, 1982.
- 44. Forkner IF, Piantadosi CA, Scafetta N, Moon RE. Hyperoxia-induced Tissue Hypoxia: A Danger? *Anesthesiology* 106: 1051–1055, 2007.
- Fritsch-Yelle JM, Charles JB, Jones MM, Beightol LA, Eckberg DL.
 Spaceflight alters autonomic regulation of arterial pressure in humans. J Appl Physiol 77: 1776–1783, 1994.
- 46. Fromonot J, Chaumet G, Gavarry O, Rostain J-C, Lucciano M, Joulia F,

Brignole M, **Deharo J-C**, **Guieu R**, **Boussuges A**. Hyperoxia Improves Hemodynamic Status During Head-up Tilt Testing in Healthy Volunteers. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 95: e2876, 2016.

- Fu Q, Okazaki K, Shibata S, Shook RP, VanGunday TB, Galbreath MM, Reelick MF, Levine BD. Menstrual cycle effects on sympathetic neural responses to upright tilt. *J Physiol* 587: 2019–31, 2009.
- Fu Q, Shook RP, Okazaki K, Hastings JL, Shibata S, Conner CL, Palmer MD, Levine BD. Vasomotor sympathetic neural control is maintained during sustained upright posture in humans. *J Physiol* 577: 679–87, 2006.
- 49. Fu Q, Witkowski S, Levine BD. Vasoconstrictor reserve and sympathetic neural control of orthostasis. *Circulation* 110: 2931–2937, 2004.
- Ganz W, Donoso R, Marcus H, Swan HJC. Coronary Hemodynamics and Myocardial Oxygen Metabolism during Oxygen Breathing in Patients with and without Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation* 45: 763–768, 1972.
- 51. Ganzeboom KS, Colman N, Reitsma JB, Shen WK, Wieling W. Prevalence and Triggers of Syncope in Medical Students. *Am J Cardiol* 91: 1006–1008, 2003.
- 52. Geelen G, Laitinen T, Hartikainen J, Länsimies E, Bergström K, Niskanen L. Gender influence on vasoactive hormones at rest and during a 70 degrees headup tilt in healthy humans. *J Appl Physiol* 92: 1401–8, 2002.
- 53. **Gelfand R**, Lambertsen CJ. Dynamic respiratory response to abrupt change of inspired CO₂ at normal and high PO₂. *J Appl Physiol* 35: 903–913, 1973.
- 54. Gisolf J, Wilders R, Immink R V., van Lieshout JJ, Karemaker JM. Tidal volume, cardiac output and functional residual capacity determine end-tidal CO₂ transient during standing up in humans. *J Physiol* 554: 579–590, 2004.
- 55. **Golub AS**, **Pittman RN**. Bang-bang Model for Regulation of Local Blood Flow. *Microcirculation* 20: 455–483, 2013.
- Gosling RG, Lo PTS, Taylor MG. Interpretation of pulsatility index in feeder arteries to low-impedance vascular beds. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 1: 175–179, 1991.
- 57. Grubb BP, Gerard G, Roush K, Temesy-Armos P, Montford P, Elliott L, Hahn H, Brewster P. Cerebral Vasoconstriction During Head-Upright Tilt-Induced

Vasovagal Syncope: A Paradoxic and Unexpected Response. *Circulation* 84: 1157–1164, 1991.

- 58. **Gunnar Wallin B**, **Sundlöf G**. Sympathetic outflow to muscles during vasovagal syncope. *J Auton Nerv Syst* 6: 287–291, 1982.
- 59. **Harada Y**, **Kuno M**, **Wang YZ**. Differential Effects of Carbon Dioxide and pH on Central Chemoreceptors in the Rat In Vitro. *J Physiol* 368: 679–693, 1985.
- 60. Hart EC, Charkoudian N, Wallin BG, Curry TB, Eisenach J, Joyner MJ. Sex and ageing differences in resting arterial pressure regulation: the role of the βadrenergic receptors. *J Physiol* 589: 5285–5297, 2011.
- Hart EC, Charkoudian N, Wallin BG, Curry TB, Eisenach JH, Joyner MJ. Sex Differences in Sympathetic Neural-Hemodynamic Balance: Implications for Human Blood Pressure Regulation. *Hypertension* 53: 571–576, 2009.
- Heistad DD, Abboud FM, Mark AL, Schmid PG. Interaction of baroreceptor and chemoreceptor reflexes: Modulation of the chemoreceptor reflex by changes in baroreceptor activity. *J Clin Invest* 53: 1226–1236, 1974.
- Henry RA, Lu I-L, Beightol LA, Eckberg DL. Interactions between CO₂ Chemoreflexes and arterial baroreflexes. *Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol* 274: H2177–H2187, 1998.
- 64. Hermand E, Lhuissier FJ, Larribaut J, Pichon A, Richalet J. Ventilatory oscillations at exercise: effects of hyperoxia, hypercapnia, and acetazolamide. *Physiol Rep* 3: e12446, 2015.
- 65. **Heymans C**, **Neil E**. *Reflexogenic Areas of the Cardiovascular System*. London: J. & A. Churchill, 1958.
- 66. Honda Y. Respiratory and circulatory activities in carotid body-resected humans.
 [Online]. J Appl Physiol 73: 1–8, 1992.
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1506355.
- 67. Hordinsky JR, Gebhardt U, Wegmann HM, Schäfer G. Cardiovascular and biochemical response to simulated space flight entry. *Aviat Space Environ Med* 52: 16–18, 1981.
- 68. **Howden R**, **Lightfoot JT**, **Brown SJ**, **Swaine IL**. The effects of breathing 5% CO₂ on human cardiovascular responses and tolerance to orthostatic stress. *Exp*

Physiol 89: 465-471, 2004.

- Ito H, Kanno I, Ibaraki M, Hatazawa J, Miura S. Changes in Human Cerebral Blood Flow and Cerebral Blood Volume During Hypercapnia and Hypocapnia Measured by Positron Emission Tomography. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 23: 665–670, 2003.
- Jarvis SS, Florian JP, Curren MJ, Pawelczyk JA. Sex differences in vasoconstrictor reserve during 70deg head-up tilt. *Exp Physiol* 95: 184–193, 2010.
- Johnston AJ, Steiner LA, Gupta AK, Menon DK. Cerebral oxygen vasoreactivity and cerebral tissue oxygen reactivity. *Br J Anaesth* 90: 774–786, 2003.
- Jones RD, English KM, Pugh PJ, Morice AH, Jones TH, Channer KS.
 Pulmonary Vasodilatory Action of Testosterone : Evidence of a Calcium Antagonistic Action. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 39: 814–823, 2002.
- Jouett NP, Watenpaugh DE, Dunlap ME, Smith ML. Interactive effects of hypoxia, hypercapnia and lung volume on sympathetic nerve activity in humans. *Exp Physiol* 100: 1018–1029, 2015.
- 74. Kara T, Narkiewicz K, Somers VK. Chemoreflexes physiology and clinical implications. *Acta Physiol Scand* 177: 377–384, 2003.
- 75. **Kastrup A**, **Thomas C**, **Hartmann C**, **Schabet M**. Sex Dependency of Cerebrovascular CO₂ Reactivity in Normal Subjects. *Stroke* 28: 2353–2356, 1997.
- 76. Kawano H, Motoyama T, Kugiyama K, Hirashima O, Ohgushi M, Fujii H,
 Ogawa H, Yasue H. Gender difference in improvement of endotheliumdependent vasodilation after estrogen supplementation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 30: 914–919, 1997.
- Kenmure ACF, Murdoch WR, Hutton I, Cameron AJ V. Hemodynamic effects of oxygen at 1 and 2 Ata pressure in healthy subjects. *J Appl Physiol* 32: 223–226, 1972.
- Kety SS, Schmidt CF. the Effects of Altered Arterial Tensions of Carbon Dioxide and Oxygen on Cerebral Blood Flow and Cerebral Oxygen Consumption of Normal Young Men. J Clin Invest 27: 484–492, 1948.

- Kiely DG, Gargill RI, Lipworth BJ. Effects of Hypercapnia on Hemodynamic, Inotropic, Lusitropic, and Electrophysiologic Indices in Humans. *Chest* 109: 1215– 1221, 1996.
- 80. **Kontos HA**. Role of Hypercapnic Acidosis in the Local Regulation of Blood Flow in Skeletal Muscle. *Circ Res* 28: 98–105, 1971.
- Kontos HA, Richardson DW, Patterson, Jr. JL. Vasodilator effect of hypercapnic acidosis on human forearm blood vessels. *Am J Physiol* 215: 1403– 1405, 1968.
- Kozluk E, Cybulski G, Piatkowska A, Zastawna I, Niewiadomski W, Strasz A, Gasiorowska A, Kempa M, Kozlowski D, Opolski G. Early hemodynamic response to the tilt test in patients with syncope. *Arch Med Sci* 10: 1078–1085, 2014.
- Lambertsen CJ, Kough RH, Cooper DY, Emmel GL, Loeschcke HH, Schmidt CF. Oxygen Toxicity. Effects in Man of Oxygen Inhalation at 1 and 3.5 Atmospheres Upon Blood Gas Transport, Cerebral Circulation and Cerebral Metabolism. J Appl Physiol 5: 471–486, 1953.
- 84. **Lassen NA**. Cerebral Blood Flow and Oxygen Consumption in Man. *Physiol Rev Am Physiol Soc* 39: 183–238, 1941.
- 85. Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, Boutouyrie P, Giannattasio C, Hayoz D, Pannier B, Vlachopoulos C, Wilkinson I, Struijker-Boudier H. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: Methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur Heart J* 27: 2588–2605, 2006.
- Lauscher P, Kertscho H, Enselmann P, Lauscher S, Habler O, Meier J.
 Effects of alterations of inspiratory oxygen fractions on heart rate variability. *Br J Anaesth* 108: 402–408, 2012.
- 87. **Leusen I**. Au Sujet de L'Influence du pH Céphalo-Rachidien sur la Respiration. *Arch Int Physiol* 57: 432–433, 1950.
- Levine BD, Buckey JC, Fritsch JM, Yancy Jr. CW, Watenpaugh DE, Snell PG, Lane LD, Eckberg DL, Blomqvist CG. Physical fitness and cardiovascular regulation: mechanisms of orthostatic intolerance. *J Appl Physiol* 70: 112–122, 1991.

- Levine BD, Giller CA, Lane LD, Buckey JC, Blomqvist CG. Cerebral Versus Systemic Hemodynamics During Graded Orthostatic Stress in Humans. *Circulation* 90: 298–306, 1994.
- Li Y, Tesselaar E, Borges JB, Bohm SH, Sjoberg F, Janerot-Sjoberg B. Hyperoxia affects the regional pulmonary ventilation/perfusion ratio: an electrical impedance tomography study. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 58: 716–725, 2014.
- 91. Lipp A, Schmelzer JD, Low P a, Johnson BD, Benarroch EE. Ventilatory and cardiovascular responses to hypoxia and hypercapnia in multiple system atrophy. *Arch Neurol* 67: 211–216, 2010.
- Loeppky JA, Luft UC. Fluctuations in O₂ stores and gas exchange with passive changes in posture [Online]. *J Appl Physiol* 39: 47–53, 1975. http://jap.physiology.org.sci-hub.club/content/39/1/47.short.
- Loeschcke HH. Central chemosensitivity and the reaction theory. *J Physiol* 332: 1–24, 1982.
- Loeschcke HH, Koepchen HP, Gertz KH. Über den Einfluß von Wasserstoffionenkonzentration und CO₂-Druck im Liquor cerebrospinalis auf die Atmung. *Pflugers Arch* 266: 569–585, 1958.
- 95. **Machida H**. Influence of progesterone on arterial blood and CSF acid-base balance in women. *J Appl Physiol* 51: 1433–1436, 1981.
- Mark AL, Victor RG, Nerhed C, Wallin BG. Microneurographic Studies of the Mechanisms of Sympathetic Nerve Responses to Static Exercise in Humans. *Circ Res* 57: 461–469, 1985.
- 97. **Matalon S V.**, **Fahrl LE**. Cardiopulmonary readjustments in passive tilt. *J Appl Physiol* 47: 503–507, 1979.
- Meendering JR, Torgrimson BN, Houghton BL, Halliwill JR, Minson CT.
 Menstrual cycle and sex affect hemodynamic responses to combined orthostatic and heat stress. *Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol* 289: H631–H642, 2005.
- Miller JD, Pegelow DF, Jacques AJ, Dempsey JA. Skeletal muscle pump versus respiratory muscle pump: modulation of venous return from the locomotor limb in humans. J Physiol 563: 925–943, 2005.
- 100. Minson CT, Halliwill JR, Young TM, Joyner MJ. Influence of the Menstrual

Cycle on Sympathetic Activity, Baroreflex Sensitivity, and Vascular Transduction in Young Women. *Circulation* 101: 862–868, 2000.

- 101. Miyamoto Y, Tamura T, Hiura T, Nakamura T, Higuchi J, Mikami T. The Dynamic Response of the Cardiopulmonary Parameters to Passive Head-up Tilt. *Jpn J Physiol* 32: 245–258, 1982.
- 102. **Mohan R**, **Duffin J**. The effect of hypoxia on the ventilatory response to carbon dioxide in man. *Respir Physiol* 108: 101–115, 1997.
- 103. Morgan BJ, Crabtree DC, Palta M, Skatrud JB. Combined hypoxia and hypercapnia evokes long-lasting sympathetic activation in humans [Online]. J Appl Physiol 79: 205–213, 1995. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7559221.
- 104. Müller HR, Brunhölzl C, Radü EW, Buser M. Sex and side differences of cerebral arterial caliber. *Neuroradiology* 33: 212–216, 1991.
- 105. Murrell CJ, Cotter JD, George K, Shave R, Wilson L, Thomas K, Williams MJA, Ainslie PN. Cardiorespiratory and cerebrovascular responses to head-up tilt l: Influence of age and training status. *Exp Gerontol* 46: 9–17, 2011.
- 106. Nakajima S, Meyer JS, Amano T, Shaw T, Okabe T, Mortel KF. Cerebral vasomotor responsiveness during 100% oxygen inhalation in cerebral ischemia. *Arch Neurol* 40: 271–6, 1983.
- 107. Narkiewicz K, Pesek CA, van de Borne PJ, Kato M, Somers VK. Enhanced Sympathetic and Ventilatory Responses to Central Chemoreflex Activation in Heart Failure. *Circulation* 100: 262–267, 1999.
- 108. **Nattie E**. Why do we have both peripheral and central chemoreceptors? *J Appl Physiol* 100: 9–10, 2006.
- 109. Novak V, Spies JM, Novak P, McPhee BR, Rummans TA, Low PA.
 Hypocapnia and Cerebral Hypoperfusion in Orthostatic Intolerance. *Stroke* 29: 1876–1881, 1998.
- O'Regan RG, Majcherczyk S. Role of peripheral chemoreceptors and central chemosensitivity in the regulation of respiration and circulation. *J Exp Biol* 100: 23–40, 1982.
- 111. **Omae T**, **Ibayashi S**, **Kusuda K**, **Nakamura H**, **Yagi H**, **Fujishima M**. Effects of High Atmospheric Pressure and Oxygen on Middle Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity

in Humans Measured by Transcranial Doppler. Stroke 29: 94-97, 1998.

- Pasgaard T, Stankevicius E, Jørgensen MM, Østergaard L, Simonsen U, Frøbert O. Hyperoxia reduces basal release of nitric oxide and contracts porcine coronary arteries. *Acta Physiol* 191: 285–296, 2007.
- 113. **Patkar S**, **Farr TD**, **Cooper E**, **Dowell FJ**, **Carswell HVO**. Differential vasoactive effects of oestrogen, oestrogen receptor agonists and selective oestrogen receptor modulators in rat middle cerebral artery. *Neurosci Res* 71: 78–84, 2011.
- Peggs KJ, Nguyen H, Diba E, Keller NR, Al-Hendy A, Raj SR. Gynecologic disorders and menstrual cycle lightheadedness in postural tachycardia syndrome. 108: 242–246, 2012.
- 115. Peltonen GL, Harrell JW, Aleckson BP, Laplante KM, Crain MK, Schrage WG. Cerebral blood flow regulation in women across menstrual phase : differential contribution of cyclooxygenase to basal, hypoxic, and hypercapnic vascular tone. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 331: R222–R231, 2016.
- 116. **Pourcelot L**. Applications cliniques de l'examen Doppler transcutane. *Colloq Inst Natl Sante Rech Med* 34: 213–240, 1974.
- 117. Purves MJ. Respiratory and circulatory effects of breathing 100% oxygen in the new-born lamb before and after denervation of the carotid chemoreceptors. J Physiol 185: 42–59, 1966.
- 118. Reivich M. Arterial PCO₂ and cerebral hemodynamics. *Am J Physiol* 206: 25–35, 1964.
- 119. Richardson L, Topor Z, Bhakta D, McCaffrey F, Bruce E, Patwardhan A. Assessment of ventilatory sensitivity to carbon dioxide changes during orthostasis. *Biomed Sci Instrum* 38: 301–305, 2002.
- Rifkin MD, Needleman L, Pasto ME, Kurtz AB, Foy PM, McGlynn E, Canino C, Baltarowich OH, Pennell RG, Goldberg BB. Evaluation of Renal Transplant Rejection by Duplex Doppler Examination: Value of the Resistive Index. *Am J Roentgenol* 148: 759–762, 1987.
- 121. Robertson AD, Edgell H, Hughson RL. Assessing cerebrovascular autoregulation from critical closing pressure and resistance area product during upright posture in aging and hypertension. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol 307:

124–133, 2014.

- 122. Romei M, Mauro AL, D'Angelo MG, Turconi AC, Bresolin N, Pedotti A, Aliverti A. Effects of gender and posture on thoraco-abdominal kinematics during quiet breathing in healthy adults. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 172: 184–191, 2010.
- 123. **Rostrup E**, **Toft PB**, **Gardet K**. Signal Changes in Gradient Echo Images of Human Brain Induced by Hypo- and Hyperoxia. *NMR Biomed* 8: 41–47, 1995.
- 124. Rowell KO, Hall J, Pugh PJ, Jones TH, Channer KS, Jones RD. Testosterone acts as an efficacious vasodilator in isolated human pulmonary arteries and veins : Evidence for a biphasic effect at physiological and supra-physiological concentrations. *J Endocrinol Invest* 32: 718–723, 2009.
- Rowell LB. Human Cardiovascular Control. New York: Oxford University Press, 1993.
- 126. Sather TM, Goldwater DJ, Montgomery LD, Convertino VA. Cardiovascular Dynamics Associated with Tolerance to Lower Body Negative Pressure. Aviat Sp Environ Med 57: 413–419, 1986.
- 127. Schlaefke ME. Central chemosensitivity a respiratory drive. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* 90: 171–244, 1981.
- 128. **Schondorf R**, **Low PA**. Idiopathic postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome: An attenuated form of acute pandysautonomia? *Neurology* 43: 132–137, 1993.
- 129. Schwartz WB, Brackett, Jr. NC, Cohen JJ. The Response of Extracellular Hydrogen Ion Concentration To Graded Degrees of Chronic Hypercapnia: The Physiologic Limits of the Defense of Ph. J Clin Invest 44: 291–301, 1965.
- Sebert P, Sanchez J. Sexual and Postural Differences in Cardioventilatory Responses During and After Breath Holding at Rest. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 47: 209– 222, 1981.
- Serrador JM, Hughson RL, Kowalchuk JM, Bondar RL, Gelb AW. Cerebral blood flow during orthostasis: role of arterial CO₂. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 290: R1087–R1093, 2006.
- 132. Serrador JM, Picot PA, Rutt BK, Shoemaker JK, Bondar RL. MRI measures of middle cerebral artery diameter in conscious humans during simulated orthostasis. Stroke 31: 1672–1678, 2000.

- Sherwood L, Ward C. Human Physiology: From Cells to Systems. 3rd ed. Toronto: Nelson Education, 2016.
- 134. Shoemaker JK, Hogeman CS, Khan M, Kimmerly DS, Sinoway LI. Gender affects sympathetic and hemodynamic response to postural stress. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 281: H2028–H2035, 2001.
- Simmons GH, Minson CT, Cracowski J-L, Halliwill JR. Systemic hypoxia causes cutaneous vasodilation in healthy humans. *J Appl Physiol* 103: 608–615, 2007.
- 136. Sinski M, Lewandowski J, Przybylski J, Zalewski P, Symonides B, Abramczyk P, Gaciong Z. Deactivation of carotid body chemoreceptors by hyperoxia decreases blood pressure in hypertensive patients. *Hypertens Res* 37: 858–862, 2014.
- 137. Skow RJ, Tymko MM, MacKay CM, Steinback CD, Day TA. The effects of head-up and head-down tilt on central respiratory chemoreflex loop gain tested by hyperoxic rebreathing. In: *Progress in Brain Research*, edited by Holstege G, Beers CM, Subramanian HH. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc., 2010, p. 149–172.
- Slatkovska L, Jensen D, Davies GAL, Wolfe LA. Phasic menstrual cycle effects on the control of breathing in healthy women. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 154: 379– 388, 2006.
- 139. Smith CA, Rodman JR, Chenuel BJ, Henderson KS, Dempsey JA. Response time and sensitivity of the ventilatory response to CO₂ in unanesthetized intact dogs: central vs. peripheral chemoreceptors. J Appl Physiol 100: 13–19, 2006.
- 140. Smith GB, Prytherch DR, Watson D, Forde V, Windsor A, Schmidt PE, Featherstone PI, Higgins B, Meredith P. SpO₂ values in acute medical admissions breathing air-Implications for the British Thoracic Society guideline for emergency oxygen use in adult patients? *Resuscitation* 83: 1201–1205, 2012.
- 141. **Smith JJ**, **Bush JE**, **Wiedmeier VT**, **Tristani FE**. Application of impedance cardiography to study of postural stress. *J Appl Physiol* 29: 133–137, 1970.
- 142. Somers VK, Mark AL, Abboud FM. Interaction of Baroreceptor and Chemoreceptor Reflex Control of Sympathetic Nerve Activity in Normal Humans. *J Clin Invest* 87: 1953–1957, 1991.

- 143. Somers VK, Mark AL, Zavala DC, Abboud FM. Contrasting effects of hypoxia and hypercapnia on ventilation and sympathetic activity in humans [Online]. J Appl Physiol 67: 2101–2106, 1989. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2513316.
- Steinback CD, Poulin MJ. Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular responses to acute isocapnic and poikilocapnic hypoxia in humans. *J Appl Physiol* 104: 482– 489, 2008.
- 145. Swierblewska E, Hering D, Kara T, Kunicka K, Kruszewski P, Bieniaszewski L, Boutouyrie P, Somers VK, Narkiewicz K. An independent relationship between muscle sympathetic nerve activity and pulse wave velocity in normal humans. *J Hypertens* 28: 979–984, 2010.
- 146. **Taneja I**, **Meadow MS**, **Clarke DA**, **Ocon AJ**, **Stewart JM**. Postural Change Alters Autonomic Responses to Breath-Holding. *Clin Auton Res* 20: 65–72, 2010.
- 147. Taneja I, Medow MS, Clarke DA, Ocon AJ, Stewart JM. Baroreceptor unloading in postural tachycardia syndrome augments peripheral chemoreceptor sensitivity and decreases central chemoreceptor sensitivity. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 301: H173–H179, 2011.
- 148. Thomson AJ, Drummond GB, Waring WS, Webb DJ, Maxwell SRJ. Effects of short-term isocapnic hyperoxia and hypoxia on cardiovascular function. J Appl Physiol 101: 809–816, 2006.
- 149. **Thrasher TN**. Unloading arterial baroreceptors causes neurogenic hypertension. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 282: R1044–R1053, 2002.
- 150. Tontisirin N, Muangman SL, Suz P, Pihoker C, Fisk D, Moore A, Lam AM, Vavilala MS. Early Childhood Gender Differences in Anterior and Posterior Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity and Autoregulation. *Pediatrics* 119, 2007.
- 151. Usselman CW, Gimon TI, Nielson CA, Luchyshyn TA, Coverdale NS, Van Uum SHM, Shoemaker JK. Menstrual cycle and sex effects on sympathetic responses to acute chemoreflex stress. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 308: H664-71, 2015.
- 152. Valdueza JM, Balzer JO, Villringer A, Vogl TJ, Kutter R, Einhäupl KM. Changes in blood flow velocity and diameter of the middle cerebral artery during hyperventilation: Assessment with MR and Transcranial Doppler sonography. *Am*

J Neuroradiol 18: 1929–1934, 1997.

- 153. Vavilala MS, Kincaid MS, Muangman SL, Suz P, Rozet I, Lam AM. Gender Differences in Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity and Autoregulation between the Anterior and Posterior Circulations in Healthy Children. *Pediatr Res* 58: 574–578, 2005.
- Victor RG, Bertocci LA, Pryor SL, Nunnally RL. Sympathetic nerve discharge is coupled to muscle pH during exercise in humans. *J Clin Invest* 82: 1301–1305, 1988.
- 155. **Viswanathan R**, **Lodi STK**, **Subramanian S**, **Radha TG**. Pulmonary Vascular Response to Ventilation Hypercapnia in Man. *Respiration* 33: 165–178, 1976.
- 156. Wang X, Richardson L, Krishnamurthy S, Pennington K, Evans J, Bruce E, Abraham W, Bhakta D, Patwardhan A. Orthostatic modification of ventilatory dynamic response to carbon dioxide perturbations. *Auton Neurosci Basic Clin* 116: 76–83, 2004.
- 157. Waring WS, Thomson AJ, Adwani SH, Rosseel AJ, Potter JF, Webb DJ, Maxwell SRJ. Cardiovascular Effects of Acute Oxygen Administration in Healthy Adults [Online]. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 42: 245–250, 2003. http://journals.lww.com/cardiovascularpharm/Abstract/2003/08000/Cardiovascular _Effects_of_Acute_Oxygen.14.aspx.
- 158. Waters WW, Ziegler MG, Meck J V, Wendy W, Ziegler MG, Janice V. Postspaceflight orthostatic hypotension occurs mostly in women and is predicted by low vascular resistance: Comment. Aviat Sp Environ Med 76: 897–898, 2005.
- 159. Watson NA, Beards SC, Altaf N, Kassner A, Jackson A. The effect of hyperoxia on cerebral blood flow: a study in healthy volunteers using magnetic resonance phase-contrast angiography. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 17: 152–159, 2000.
- 160. Welsh DG, Jackson WF, Segal SS. Oxygen induces electromechanical coupling in arteriolar smooth muscle cells: a role for L-type Ca2+ channels [Online]. Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol 274: H2018–H2024, 1998. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9841528.
- 161. **Winterstein H**. The Actions of Substances Introduced into the Cerebrospinal Fluid and the Problem of Intracranial Chemoreceptors [Online]. *Pharmacol Rev*

13: 71–107, 1961. http://pharmrev.aspetjournals.org/content/13/1/71.abstract.

- 162. Xu F, Liu P, Pascual JM, Xiao G, Lu H. Effect of hypoxia and hyperoxia on cerebral blood flow, blood oxygenation, and oxidative metabolism. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 32: 1909–18, 2012.
- 163. Yamada AT, de Carvalho Campos Neto G, Soares Jr. J, Giorgi MCP, Araujo F, Meneghetti JC, Mansur AJ. Gender differences in ventricular volumes and left ventricle ejection fraction estimated by myocardial perfusion imaging: comparison of Quantitative Gated SPECT (QGS) and Segami software programs. *Arq Bras Cardiol* 88: 256–261, 2007.
- 164. **Yoshizaki H**, **Yoshida A**, **Hayashi F**, **Fukuda Y**. Effect of Posture Change on Control of Ventilation. *Jpn. J. Physiol.* 48: 267–273, 1998.
- 165. Zaidi A, Benitez D, Gaydecki PA, Vohra A, Fitzpatrick AP. Haemodynamic effects of increasing angle of head up tilt. *Heart* 83: 181–184, 2000.
- 166. Zhilyaev SY, Moskvin AN, Platonova TF, Gutsaeva DR, Churilina I V., Demchenko IT. Hyperoxic Vasoconstriction in the Brain Is Mediated by Inactivation of Nitric Oxide by Superoxide Anions. *Neurosci Behav Physiol* 33: 783–787, 2003.

Appendix A: Summary of results

Condition	Major Results
Normoxic Tilt	 Men have increased respiratory pump action compared to
	women during HUT.
Hypercapnia	• The central chemoreflex is augmented in HUT in all groups;
	however, only men have augmented increases in MAP.
Hyperoxia	• The peripheral chemoreflex is activated in HUT in all groups.